

ELICITING CHEFS' CREATIVITY IN UTILISING MALAYSIAN LOCAL HERBS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF MODERN MALAYSIAN CUISINE

By

MUHAMMAD REZZA BIN ZAINAL ABIDIN

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

January 2023

FSTM 2023 5

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

ELICITING CHEFS' CREATIVITY IN UTILISING MALAYSIAN LOCAL HERBS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF MODERN MALAYSIAN CUISINE

Ву

MUHAMMAD REZZA BIN ZAINAL ABIDIN

January 2023

Chairman : Farah Adibah Che Ishak, PhD Faculty : Food Science and Technology

Since 2011, herbal trade has become a new source of economic growth in Malaysia, coinciding with the increase in global demand for herbal products. However, despite its significance, minimal emphasis has been paid to the use of herbs in culinary practices, particularly in creative and innovative culinary creations development. Most of the existing creativity literature explored how creativity enables chefs to survive in a fast-paced industry.

However, there are still substantial misunderstandings about how creative culinary processes unfold. Because of that, the rising trend of modernist cuisine may be a platform to unravel this phenomenon, as it requires a higher level of chefs' creativity to interpret it. Thus, this study investigates the utilisation of Malaysian local herbs (MLH) in modern cuisine development and illuminates chefs' creativity in contemplating the creation of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC). This study aimed to develop a framework that dynamically conceptualises creative culinary processes by analysing chefs' creativity in fusing local produce into modern products through an inductive qualitative approach, using a multiple-case study design. Twenty-three informants were involved in this study: reputable modern chefs, food and industrial experts, culinary and food service academicians, and local government authorities.

The data were primarily gathered through semi-structured in-depth interviews, participatory observations, interviews with related resources, and focus group discussions to best depict the repertoire and nuances of the creative culinary process of utilising MLH in the creation of MMC. The data was organised and analysed in two phases using the constant comparison analysis: the first phase was to capture the individual dynamic lens of each chef's creative thought process, while the second phase was to analyse and group each informant's

lens into categories that best encapsulate the creative culinary process in the creation of MMC. This was then followed by the cross-case analysis to seek convergent and divergent data across cases and solidify the categories into four unique themes: (1) embodiment of knowledge, (2) challenges of modernising the "orthodox", (3) acclimatisation of modern cooking techniques and modern technology equipment, and lastly (4) conceptualisation of creativity in MMC.

In essence, this study contributes to three facets. First, it provides empirical evidence that creativity is intentional rather than accidental. It implies that the creative culinary process can be dynamically schematised as a motivating and essential aspect of human life that yields emotional and gratifying rewards for the creator. Second, the integrated creative culinary process model provides a set of steps that can be used to generate ideas and then transform them into creative innovations. It also contributes to the body of knowledge by indicating that such a sequence is a dynamic flow that generates more profound ways for chefs to articulate their creative thought processes. Finally, this study sheds new light on the dynamics that allow the equilibrium between familiarity and novelty in agricultural and creative industries, where products suffer from significant inattention, by revealing the key challenge of developing a modern cultural product that differs deeply from the traditional ones.

In so doing, this study focused on the product level by investigating the main fusing strategies to balance novelty and familiarity. While previous works have mainly underlined the importance of using traditional knowledge to create new products, this study specified the usefulness of new combinations between traditional and cultural elements with modern elements since existing literature has claimed the perils of offshoring for the recombinant of cultural and artistic cuisine innovations.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

MENCUNGKIL KREATIVITI CEF DALAM MENGGUNAKAN HERBA TEMPATAN DALAM PEMBANGUNAN MASAKAN MODEN MALAYSIA

Oleh

MUHAMMAD REZZA BIN ZAINAL ABIDIN

Januari 2023

Pengerusi : Farah Adibah Che Ishak, PhD Fakulti : Sains dan Teknologi Makanan

Sejak tahun 2011, perdagangan herba menjadi sumber pertumbuhan ekonomi baharu di Malaysia, bertepatan dengan peningkatan permintaan global terhadap produk herba. Namun begitu, di sebalik kepentingan herba, hanya penekanan yang minimum sahaja diberikan kepada penggunaan herba dalam amalan kulinari, terutamanya dalam pembangunan penciptaan masakan yang kreatif dan inovatif. Kebanyakan literatur kreativiti sedia ada melihat kepada bagaimana kreativiti membolehkan seseorang cef bertahan dalam perkembangan industri masakan yang pantas.

Walau bagaimanapun, masih terdapat salah faham yang ketara tentang bagaimana proses kulinari kreatif berlaku. Oleh kerana itu, peningkatan trend masakan moden mungkin menjadi platform untuk merungkaikan fenomena ini, kerana seseorang cef memerlukan tahap kreativiti yang lebih tinggi untuk menjelaskannya. Justeru, kajian ini bertujuan untuk mengkaji penggunaan herba tempatan Malaysia (MLH) dalam pembangunan masakan moden dan mencungkil kreativiti cef dalam penciptaan masakan moden Malaysia (MMC). Matlamat kajian ini juga adalah untuk membangunkan rangka kerja yang mengkonseptualisasikan proses kreatif secara dinamik dengan menganalisis kreativiti cef dalam menggabungkan hasil tempatan ke dalam masakan moden melalui pendekatan kualitatif induktif dengan menggunakan reka bentuk kajian kes. Dua puluh tiga orang informan terlibat dalam kajian ini, iaitu cef moden yang terkenal, pakar makanan dan industri, ahli akademik masakan dan perkhidmatan makanan, serta pihak berkuasa tempatan.

Data dikumpulkan melalui temu bual separa berstruktur, pemerhatian peserta, temu bual dengan sumber berkaitan, serta perbincangan secara fokus kumpulan untuk menggambarkan dengan terbaik keadaan dan perubahan proses

masakan kreatif dengan menggunakan MLH dalam penciptaan MMC. Data yang diperoleh disusun dan dianalisis dalam dua fasa dengan menggunakan analisis perbandingan berterusan. Fasa pertama adalah untuk melihat pendapat dinamik individu pada proses pemikiran kreatif cef, manakala fasa kedua adalah untuk menganalisis dan mengkategorikan setiap pendapat informan ke dalam kategori terbaik yang merangkumi proses masakan kreatif dalam penciptaan MMC. Proses ini kemudiannya diikuti dengan analisis kes silang untuk mencari data yang konvergen dan divergen serta dikukuhkan kategori tersebut kepada empat tema unik, iaitu; (1) penjelmaan pengetahuan, (2) cabaran memodenkan "ortodoks", (3) penyesuaian teknik memasak moden dan peralatan teknologi moden, dan akhir sekali (4) konseptualisasi kreativiti dalam MMC.

Pada asasnya, kajian ini menyumbang kepada tiga aspek. Pertama, kajian ini menyediakan bukti empirikal bahawa kreativiti adalah sesuatu yang disengajakan dan bukannya kebetulan. Ini menunjukkan bahawa proses masakan kreatif boleh dirangka secara dinamik sebagai motivasi dan aspek penting dalam kehidupan manusia yang menghasilkan emosi dan kepuasan kepada penciptanya. Kedua, model integrasi proses masakan kreatif menyediakan suatu set langkah yang boleh digunakan untuk menghasilkan idea dan kemudian menukarkannya menjadi inovasi kreatif. Ia juga menyumbang kepada suatu badan pengetahuan dengan menunjukkan bahawa urutan ini adalah aliran dinamik yang menghasilkan pelbagai cara lebih mendalam kepada cef untuk mengemukakan proses pemikiran kreatif. Akhir sekali, kajian ini memberikan pencerahan baharu tentang dinamik yang membenarkan keseimbangan antara kebiasaan dan kebaharuan dalam industri pertanian dan kreatif, di mana produk mengalami ketidakperhatian yang besar, dengan mendedahkan cabaran utama dalam mengembangkan produk budaya moden yang sangat berbeza dengan tradisional.

Dengan berbuat demikian, kajian ini memfokuskan kepada tahap produk dengan melihat strategi penggabungan utama untuk menyeimbangkan kebaharuan dan kebiasaan. Sementara literatur terdahulu lebih menekankan kepentingan penggunaan pengetahuan tradisional untuk mencipta produk baharu, kajian ini menyatakan kegunaan gabungan baharu antara elemen tradisional dan budaya dengan elemen moden kerana literatur sedia ada mendakwa bahawa terdapat bahaya dalam penukaran pada rekomposisi inovasi masakan budaya dan seni.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Praise and thanks to Allah, the Almighty, for His showers of blessings throughout my research work to complete this journey successfully.

First and foremost, I would like to express my appreciation to the Ministry of Higher Education of Malaysia and my employer, Universiti Putra Malaysia, for their generous funding. The financial assistance provided enabled me to pursue my doctoral degree.

My deep and sincere gratitude goes to my esteemed supervisor, Dr. Farah Adibah Che Ishak, for her guidance, understanding, endurance, and most importantly, her positive encouragement and warm spirit in assisting me in finishing this thesis. Her dynamism, vision, sincerity, and motivation have deeply inspired me. It has been a great pleasure and absolute honour to have her as my supervisor. I would also like to thank the other members of my supervisory committee, Prof. Dr. Ismi Arif Ismail, for his depth of knowledge in research methodologies, Dr. Chua Bee-Lia, for her treasured support, which was influential in shaping my thesis structure and in critiquing my results, and Dr. Nurul Hanisah Juhari for her warmth, patience, insightful comments, and optimism.

My heartfelt appreciation also goes to Prof Dr. Muhammad Shahrim Abd Karim, Prof. Dr. Steven Krauss and Dr. Nur Aira Abd Rahim, who gave invaluable assistance in developing my research strategy and objectives outside of classroom hours and on their off days. Their diligence and commitment within their respective fields of study have set an excellent example for aspiring doctorate candidates.

Additionally, I would like to express my gratitude to my colleagues, notably Mr. Jack Lai Hao Bin and Mr. Zulfikri Hasni, for accompanying me on this voyage. I cherished every time we spent together in the classes and social settings. They were always available to assist me and were only a phone call away, and their unwavering devotion to complete their PhD inspired me to accomplish the same.

More importantly, my genuine respect goes to my *Abah* for his strong support economically and the endless encouragement he gave me in every step to where I am today. I am indebted to him for his love, prayers, care, and sacrifices in educating and preparing me for my future. I am also thankful to all my beloved friends, especially Ms. Diana Zakaria and Ms. Abcida Ahmad, who were there for me and supported me through thick and thin. Their love, understanding, prayers, and continuous support served as a North Star for me to complete this thesis.

Finally, my thanks go to all the great restaurants that participated in this research, especially the incredible chefs whose voices and experiences made this study possible. May your success be an inspiration and catalyst for others to follow in your footsteps.



This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Farah Adibah binti Che Ishak, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Food Science and Technology
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Chairman)

Ismi Arif bin Ismail, PhD

Professor
Faculty of Educational Studies
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

Chua Bee-Lia, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Food Science and Technology
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

Nurul Hanisah binti Juhari, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Food Science and Technology
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 8 June 2023

Declaration by the Graduate Student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature:	Date:

Name and Matric No: Muhammad Rezza bin Zainal Abidin

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Farah Adibah binti Che Ishak
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Professor Dr. Ismi Arif bin Ismail
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Chua Bee-Lia
Signature: Name of Member of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Nurul Hanisah binti Juhari

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
ABSTRAC ABSTRAM ACKNOWN APPROVA DECLARA LIST OF T LIST OF A GLOSSAR	(LEDGE LL TION ABLES IGURE PPENI	S S	i iii v vii ix xv xvi xix xx
LIST OF A	BBRE	VIATIONS	xxvi
CHAPTER			
CHAPTER			
1	INTRO	DDUCTION	1
	1.1	Chapter Overview	1
	1.2	Background of the Study	1
	1.3	Problem Statement	5
	1.4	Research Objectives	10
	1.5	Research Questions	11
	1.6	Scope of Study	11
	1.7	Significance of Study	12
		1.7.1 Industrial and Managerial Perspectives	12
		1.7.2 Theoretical Perspective	13
	1.8	Definition of Key Terminologies	14
	1.9	Thesis Organisation	16
2	LITER	ATURE REVIEW	17
_	2.1	Chapter Overview	17
	2.2	The Etymology of Malaysian Local Herbs (MLH)	17
	2.3	Herbs in Culinary Practices	20
		2.3.1 Utilisation of Malaysian Local Herbs (MLH) in	
		Modern Cuisines Around the World	20
		2.3.2 Utilisation of Malaysian Local Herbs (MLH) in	
		Modern Malaysian Cuisines (MMC)	21
		2.3.3 The Paradox of Recombining and	
		Modernising Malaysian Local Herbs in	
		Modern Cuisine Development	24
	2.4	Culinary Progression and Movement	25
		2.4.1 The Diffusion of Culinary Modernisation	25
		2.4.2 The Emergence of Modern Cooking	
		Techniques (MCT) and Modern Technology	
		Equipment (MTE)	27
	2.5	Chef, Creativity, and Culinary Creativity	29
		2.5.1 Chefs as Culinary Artists	29

		2.5.2	Culinary Creativity and Creative Culinary Progression	32
		2.5.3	Knowledge as Mechanism in Creative Processes	35
		2.5.4	Creativity and Novelty in Modern (ist) Cuisines (MC)	36
	2.6	Creative	Culinary Process	38
		2.6.1	Graham Wallas System View of the Creative	
			Process	40
		2.6.2	Teresa Amabile System View of the Creative Process	42
		2.6.3	Horng and Hu's System View of the Creative	72
		2.0.5	Process	43
	2.7	Theoreti	cal Framework Development	45
	2.8		Summary	47
	2.0	Onaptor	Cultinary	
3	METH	ODOLO	ay .	49
	3.1		Overview	49
	3.2		vity Statement	49
	3.3	•	phical Stance and Assumption	51
	3.4		ve Research Design	52
	3.5		Study Methodology: Why is it Employed?	53
	0.0	3.5.1	A Multiple-case Study Design	54
		3.5.2	The Role of the Researcher	56
	3.6		g and Population	57
	0.0	3.6.1	Sampling Method and Strategy	57
		3.6.2	Inclusionary Criteria of Main Informants	57
		3.6.3	Demographic Selection Criteria	59
	3.7	Data Co		62
	0.7	3.7.1	Interviews	62
		3.7.2	Participatory Observations	65
		3.7.3	Interview with Related Sources	67
		3.7.4	Focus Group Discussions (FGD)	68
		3.7.4	3.7.4.1 Focus Group Recruitment and	00
			Sampling Criteria	68
			3.7.4.2 The Rationale of Employing Focus	00
			Group Discussion	72
	3.8	Ethical (Considerations	73
	3.9			73 74
	3.9	3.9.1	nagement and Analysis	74 74
		3.9.1	Data Management	74 75
			Data Analysis Constant Comparative Analysis	
		3.9.3 3.9.4	Cross-case Analysis	76 78
	3.10			
	3.10		Quality and Trustworthiness	80
		3.10.1	Credibility	80
		3.10.2	Consistency	81
		3.10.3	Transferability	81
	0.44	3.10.4	Dependability	82
	3.11	unapter	Summary	83

4	FINDII	INGS AND DISCUSSION		84	
	4.1	Chapter	Overview	,	84
	4.2	The "Cas	ses"		84
		4.2.1	Case 1: '	"The Pioneer" – Michelangelo	84
		4.2.2		"The Brother" – Daniel	88
		4.2.3		"The Scientist" – Lyrae	92
		4.2.4	Case 4: '	"The Dreamer" – Theo	99
		4.2.5	Case 5: '	"The Rebel" – Michael	103
		4.2.6	Case 6: '	"The Crusader" – Nathaniel	108
		4.2.7		"The Jetsetter" – Raphael	115
		4.2.8	Case 8: '	"The Émigré" – Hariel	121
	4.3	The "Res	sults"		126
		4.3.1	RQ1 - Er	mbodiment of Knowledge	127
			4.3.1.1	Ignition of Curiosity	127
			4.3.1.2	Harmonising Knowledge and	
				Experience	130
			4.3.1.3	Recombinant of Ingredients,	
				Flavours, and Techniques	131
			4.3.1.4	Proximity of Self-confidence and	
				Persistence	133
			4.3.1.5	Ethos of Culture	135
			4.3.1.6	Circumferential and Extrinsic	
				Inspirations	137
		4.3.2	RQ2 -	Challenges of Modernising the	
			"Orthodo		140
			4.3.2.1	Inconsistency of Supply and	4.40
			4000	Demand	140
			4.3.2.2	Different Cultural Ideologies	143
			4.3.2.3	Customer and Societal	4 4 5
			4224	Acceptance	145
		4.3.3	4.3.2.4	Ambiguity and Self-confidence Acclimatisation of Modern Cooking	146
		4.3.3		ues (MCT) and Modern Technology	
				ent (MTE)	148
			4.3.3.1	Radical Results in Taste and	140
			4.0.0.1	Aesthetic Presentation	148
			4.3.3.2	Apparatus for Stimulating	140
			4.0.0.2	Creativity	151
			4.3.3.3	Ergonomical Operational Tasks	152
		4.3.4		Conceptualisation of Creativity in	
				Malaysian Cuisine (MMC)	154
			4.3.4.1	Symphonisation of the Menu	155
			4.3.4.2	Recognition Opportunity	158
			4.3.4.3	Cultural Rhetoric and Adaptation	164
			4.3.4.4	Diffusion of New Technologies	167
	4.4	Concept	ual Frame		173
	4.5		Summary		176

5	CRO	SS-CASE	ANALYSIS	177
	5.1	Chapte	r Overview	177
	5.2	Cross-C	Case Analysis Among the Cases	177
		5.2.1	RQ1 - Embodiment of Knowledge	178
		5.2.2	RQ2 - Challenges of Modernising the	
			"Orthodox"	182
		5.2.3	RQ3 - Acclimatisation of Modern Cooking	
			Techniques (MCT) and Modern Technology	
			Equipment (MTE)	184
		5.2.4	RQ4 - Conceptualisation of Creativity in	
			Modern Malaysian Cuisine (MMC)	186
	5.3	Chapte	r Summary	192
6	SUMI	MARY AN	ND CONCLUSION	194
•	6.1		r Overview	194
	6.2		tulation of Findings	194
	0	6.2.1	RQ1 - Embodiment of Knowledge	195
		6.2.2	RQ2 - Challenges of Modernising the	
			"Orthodox"	196
			6.2.2.1 Inconsistency of Supply and	
			Demand	196
			6.2.2.2 Different Cultural Ideologies	198
			6.2.2.3 Customer and Societal	
			Acceptance	200
			6.2.2.4 Ambiguity and Self-confidence	203
		6.2.3	RQ3 - Acclimatisation of Modern Cooking	
			Technique (MCT) and Modern Cooking	
			Equipment (MTE)	206
		6.2.4	RQ4 - Conceptualisation of Creativity in	
			Modern Malaysian Cuisine (MMC)	208
	6.3		ding Remarks	210
	6.4	Contrib	utions and Implications of Study	211
		6.4.1	Theoretical Implications	212
		6.4.2	Managerial and Practical Implication	214
	6.5		ons of Study	216
	6.6	Recomi	mendations for Future Research	217
REF	EREN	CES		219
	PENDIC			263
		OF STUD	ENT	285
		IRI ICAT		286

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Main informants profile	65
2	Related sources informants' profile	67
3	FGD - Food industrial expert informants profile	69
4	FGD - Foodservice and culinary academician informants profile	70
5	Data collection resource guide	73
6	Summary of "The Cases"	170
7	Summary of the verification of "the ideal concept of creativity"	172

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1.1	BETA's interpretation of bird's nest	9
2.1	Nasi ulam, a rice salad from North Malaysia	20
2.2	One of Dewakan's standout dishes, prawns warmed in starfruit juice with herbs	23
2.3	Componential theory of creativity (re-illustrated)	42
2.4	The creative culinary process development	45
2.5	Theoretical framework	47
3.1	The multiple-case studies design	56
3.2	Country introduction and overview (Euromonitor International, 2020)	60
3.3	Market presence of full-service restaurants by states, 2017	61
3.4	Map of Kuala Lumpur city	61
3.5	Setup for virtual focus groups	72
4.1	House Stark - red snapper, temu pauh, selom oil, pomelo, belimbing buluh flower	86
4.2	House Stark - <i>Temuan</i> chocolate, jaggery ice cream, coriander seed	87
4.3	House Baratheon Dragonstone - inverted 'karipap'	89
4.4	House Baratheon Dragonstone - cincaluk granita	90
4.5	House Baratheon Dragonstone - Bentong ginger chicken and honey	92
4.6	House Arryn - crabmeat linguine with buah keluak tapanade and chilli	96
4.7	House Arryn - pai tee with foie grass and anago	97
4.8	House Targaryen - veal sweetbread, okra, daun limau purut, foie gras emulsion	98
4.9	House Targaryen - garoupa, tobiko, <i>tuak</i> , <i>ulam raja pesto</i> , crispy kailan	98

4.10	House Lannister - Rawang-breed aged duck, szechuan pepper, turmeric leaf oil	100
4.11	House Lannister - pegaga, potato, and kerisik soil	101
4.12	House Tyrell - kampung chicken, local ulam, yuzu kosho	105
4.13	House Tyrell - elderflower granita, longan, ginger torch flower	106
4.14	House Greyjoy - Rasam - served bubbling in a siphon coffee brewer that offers a slice of theatrics	111
4.15	House Greyjoy's interpretation of adipoli	112
4.16	House Greyjoy - masala dosa	114
4.17	House Greyjoy - Trio - bite-size starter featuring iconic Malaysian food (ondeh-ondeh, rojak, and nasi lemak)	115
4.18	House Tully - 28-days aged duck, white soy and calamansi cointreau, kelulut honey sauce, purple cabbage, burnt orange	118
4.19	House Tully - raw snapper, belimbing buluh flower, pumpkin relish, turmeric juice	120
4.20	House Martell - wagyu sirloin, sambal asam, kailan, sour leaves	123
4.21	House Martell - buttermilk waffle, chicken liver parfait, roselle jam, daun limau purut soil	124
4.22	House Martell - Pahang single origin 70% dark chocolate parfait, jackfruit sorbet	124
4.23	Left: Thermomix M6, Right: Pacojet	150
4.24	Left: chamber vacuum packaging machine, Right: Espuma (iSi) bottle	150
4.25	Sous-vide machine, Right: food dehydrator	154
4.26	A new creative culinary process framework	175
5.1	Multiple-case analysis for RQ1 (theme frequency of occurrence by informants)	178
5.2	Multiple-case analysis for RQ2 (theme frequency of occurrence by informants)	182
5.3	Multiple-case analysis for RQ3 (theme frequency of occurrence by informants)	184

5.4	Multiple-case analysis for RQ4 (theme frequency of occurrence by informants)	186
5.5	Multiple-case analysis for RQ4 (theme frequency of occurrence by informants)	187



LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix		
Α	JKEUPM Ethic Approval	263
В	Interview Consent Form (English Version)	264
С	Interview Consent Form (Malay Version)	267
D	Interview Protocol	270
Е	Focus Group Discussion (FGD) Online Invitation Poster	273
F	Focus Group Discussion Interview Protocol	275
G	Interview Protocol with Related Sources	279
Н	Michael's Sketches from House Tyrell	282
I	Raphael's Sketches from House Tully	283
J	Accumulated Coding Frequency	284

LIST OF GLOSSARY

Acehnese

An ethnic group from Aceh, Indonesia, on the island of Sumatra's northernmost tip. The area has a history of political tension with the Dutch. The majority of Acehnese people are Muslims.

Archipelago

A large group of islands, or island chain, is a chain, cluster, or collection of islands, or sometimes a sea containing a small number of scattered islands.

Asam Susur

Also known as Roselle, beetroot, and acidic acid, are plants of the species Hibiscus sabdariffa L. Roselle is said to be from India, Still, there is also an opinion that Roselle originated from West Africa. The Roselle plant was first introduced in Malaysia over three centuries ago. The roselle tree can grow from seed or cuttings with heights that can reach up to 3-5 meters and produce flowers most of the vear. Roselle flowers are brightly coloured. The flowers or dark calyx are dark red and thicker than normal Hibiscus. The roselle process that can be processed into food is the salute of the flowers (cacao), which taste very sour. These floral salts can be transformed into various food products such as beverages, jams, jellies, sauces, oranges, powders, or roselle sheets. The Roselle leaf and young stems can also be eaten raw as a dish or salad and as a flavour in sauces.

Asam Laksa

Asam laksa is a sour fish-based soup. Asam (or asam jawa) is the Malay word for tamarind, generally used to fortify the stock with its sour flavour. It is also normal to use "asam keping" also known as "asam gelugor", which is dried slices of tamarind fruit, for added sourness. Modern Malay spelling is asam, although the assam is still commonly used. The main ingredients for asam laksa incorporate shredded fish, normally ikan kembung or mackerel, and finely sliced vegetables, including cucumber, onions, red chillies, pineapple, lettuce, common mint, "daun kesum" (Vietnamese mint or laksa mint), and ripped-pink bunga kantan (ginger buds). Assam laksa is typically served with either thick or thin rice noodles (vermicelli) and topped off with "petis udang" or "hae ko", a thick sweet prawn/shrimp paste.

Awet Muda

Looking younger than the actual age.

Ayurveda

An ancient form of alternative medicine which is the traditional system of medicine of India and seeks to treat and integrate body, mind, and spirit using a comprehensive, holistic approach, especially by emphasising diet, herbal

remedies, exercise, meditation, breathing, and physical therapy.

Belimbing Buluh

A type of local fruit often used to give sour or acidic flavour to food, substituting tamarind or tomato.

Bouquet-garni

A bundle of herbs and aromatics (such as celery or leeks) tied together with cooking twine and simmered in stock, soups, or sauces to add flavour and aroma.

Bugis

An ethnic group, the most numerous of South Sulawesi's three main linguistic and ethnic groups in the southwestern province of Sulawesi, Indonesia's third-largest island.

Bunga Raya

Also known as *Hibiscus*. "*Bunga*" means flower in Malay, while "*raya*" means big or grand. Hibiscus species represent nations. *Hibiscus rosa-sinensis* is Malaysia's national flower, while *Hibiscus syriacus* is the national flower of South Korea. People from around the world have been putting Hibiscus to good use for thousands of years. The well-balanced, mild, berry-like flavour and aroma make the flowers and buds a perfect ingredient for herb teas, sauces, and syrups.

Bunga Telang

A blue-coloured flower commonly found in Southeast Asia. The flower is used as a natural food colouring. In Malay cooking, an aqueous extract is used to colour glutinous rice for *kuih ketan* (also known as *pulut tai tai* or *pulut tekan* in Peranakan/Nyonya cooking). In Kelantan, east Malaysia, by adding a few buds of this flower in a pot while cooking white rice, a blueish tint is added to the rice served with other side dishes, and the meal is called *nasi kerabu*. In Burmese and Thai cuisines, flowers are dipped in soft batter and fried.

Cincaluk

A dipping sauce made of fermented small shrimps or krill. It is typically served as a condiment together with chilli, shallot, and lime juice.

Daun Kaduk

Also known as *wild pepper*. The glossy heart-shaped leaf of a creeper is often featured in local cooking. *Daun kaduk* leaves are sold in bunches and are usually eaten raw. In Thai cuisine, the leaves are used to wrap *miang kham*, a traditional snack; they are also one of *Kaeng khae* curry ingredients in Northern Thailand. The curry is named after the leaves known as *khae* in northern Thailand. It is eaten as part of a salad in Laotian cuisine. In Malay cuisine, it's shredded as *ulam*.

Daun Kemangi

A herbal plant that originated in Southeast Asia that is planted for its distinctive features, taste and aroma enhancer. *Daun Kemangi* is widely used in Southeast Asian

xxi

cuisine, including Thai, Vietnamese, Laos, Malaysia, and Cambodian. The leaves are a typical ingredient in making the infamous Thai green and red curry and can be eaten as a raw *ulam*.

Daun Kesum

A herbal plant typically found in Malaysia and a tropical country. This plant is believed to have originated from Southeast Asia, such as Malaysia, Indonesia, Thailand, and Vietnam. It is used as an aroma enhancer and ingredient for cooking, such as *Asam Laksa*.

Daun Kunyit

A leaf of turmeric which holds a strong, pungent aroma and taste. For culinary purposes, turmeric leaves are used in *rendang*, *kerabu*, and meat marination paste to enhance the aroma and flavour.

Daun Pegaga

A herbaceous, frost-tender perennial plant in the flowering plant family *Apiaceae* (aromatic family plants). It is native to Asian wetlands. It is used as a medicinal herb and as a culinary vegetable. In Malay cuisine, it is eaten as *ulam* together with *sambal belacan*. Traditional medicine has been used to treat various disorders and minor wounds.

Daun Pudina

An aromatic herb whose leaves have a strong, minty, fresh smell and taste that are used to give flavour to food. *Daun pudina* is used for flavouring ice cream, candy, fruit preserves, alcoholic beverages, chewing gum, toothpaste, shampoos, soaps, and skincare products.

Daun Selasih

A culinary herb of the family *Lamiaceae* (mints). *Daun selasih* is the most used fresh in recipes. It is generally added at the last moment, as cooking quickly destroys the flavour or can be eaten raw. *Daun selasih* is also one of the main ingredients of Malays *kerabu* dishes.

Fish Head Curry

A Singaporean cuisine with mixed Indian and Chinese origins. The head of red snapper (*ikan merah*) is semistewed in a mixture of assorted spices and herbs, with various vegetables like okra and eggplants. It is usually served with bread or rice or as a shared meal.

Gaharu

A fragrant dark resinous wood used in incense, perfume, and small carvings.

Gajus

Gajus, or cashew nut, is a kind of fruit tree. Its scientific name is *Anacardium occidentale*. Gajus gets its name from its seeded form outside the fruit and is bent like a *macet* (*hulu golok*). It can either be fried or baked and is typically served as a snack in the market. It can also be used for cuisine and cakes. Cashew fruit can be eaten, but the seeds are more marketable. The fruit is soft, has a lot of water, and

is often served as a vegetable. The seeds have hard skin, and the seeds in them have a fat taste like nuts.

Inai Inai, or botanical name Lawsonia inermis, is a kind of

flowering tree in which the leaves are used to colour the human body's skin, hair, nails, and leather goods (e.g.,

bags, sacks, and sleeves) as well as dyes for fabrics.

Kacang Botor Also known as winged bean or Goa bean. In Malays culture,

kacang botor is typically devoured as ulam accompanied by

sambal belacan.

Kerabu A kind of salad with vegetables, fruit and sometimes meat

or seafood. Kerabu is considered native by some cultures as they invent the recipe based on native ingredients of

cultures.

Kerisik A smooth-grounded coconut paste which is sweet, nutty,

and creamy in flavor. Kerisik is widely used in dishes such

as kerabu and rendang.

Lauk Dishes or foods consisted of meat, fish, poultry, or seafood.

Lauk is prepared in a particular way to be eaten with rice

and some other condiments or dipping sauces.

Malay Archipelago A group of islands in the Indian and Pacific Oceans between

Southeast Asia and Australia. They are claimed as the largest group of islands globally, including over 17000 Indonesian islands, about 7000 islands of the Philippines,

and Papua New Guinea.

Mee Kari

An Asian delicacy which is usually made up of thin yellow

noodles or/and strings of thin mee-hoon (rice vermicelli) with thick, spicy, and aromatic coconut milk-infused curry broth, topped with an array choice of dried tofu, cuttlefish, chicken, egg, mint leaves, and cockle and served with chilli

sambal aside.

Mengkudu A type of fruit that originated from Southeast Asia. Also known as *noni* or scientifically *Morinda citrifolia*. The fruit is

a compound fruit; the young ones are shiny green and have dots; when they are old, they are white with black spots. Traditionally, the people of Aceh used *noni* fruit as a vegetable and salad. The leaves are also used as one of the traditional food ingredients, which often appears as a

mandatory *iftar* (breakfasting) menu.

Nasi Kerabu A blue-coloured rice served with fresh herbs, salted egg,

fish crackers, spiced sauce, and deep-fried turmeric-coated

fish.

Nasi Ulam

Is a Southeast Asian steamed rice dish mixed with various herbs, especially the leaves of pegaga (Centella asiatica), often replaced with kemangi (lemon basil), vegetables, and spices and accompanied with different side dishes. This dish features Malay cuisine with many variations and is commonly found in Indonesia, Malaysia, and southern Thailand. However, nasi ulam in Malaysia consists of cold boiled rice mixed with shredded herbs such as daun kaduk (wild pepper leaf), pucuk gajus (cashew leaf shoots), onions, etc. Kerisik and other spices are also added. Sometimes shredded fried fish is mixed in. This version is common in northwest Peninsular Malaysia. A type of nasi ulam in northeast Peninsular Malaysia, where the rice is dyed blue, is called nasi kerabu.

Peria

Also known as frog fry, peria is considered s the most bitter vegetable in the world. It does not taste very pleasant and is often eaten when still raw. However, this fruit can also be eaten when cooked and is reddish-brown or orange. Raw seeds are white, but they become red when cooked. This peria is also used as a sambal sauce in southern India or tanned with onions and tomato spices and fried.

Pucuk Putat

Also known as *pucuk gajus*, a young shoot leaf derived from the cashew tree, is typically consumed raw along with *sambal belacan*, *budu*, or *cencaluk* in a Malay tradition.

Rotan

Rotan leaves have long hooks to facilitate the trees to climb to other trees. There is a strong commercial rattan from the rattan tree trunk, which has an incredible length (often several hundred feet) and uniform diameter. Rotan or rattan is used for sticks (for example, Melaka rattan) or cut in to make rattan wickers, baskets, and chairs. Resin from rattan fruit is commercially known as "dragon blood" and is believed to have medicinal properties by Greek, Romans, and Arabs.

Sambal Belacan

Sambal Belacan is a hot-fiery sauce or paste typically made from a mixture of a variety of chilli peppers with secondary ingredients such as shrimp paste, garlic, shallot, palm sugar, and lime juice.

Santalum

A small tropical tree and is the most commonly knAuthor's source of sandalwood. It is native to India, Indonesia, and the Malay Archipelago. Certain cultures place great significance on their aromatic and medicinal qualities. It is also considered sacred in some religions and is used in different religious traditions.

Sirih

Also known as *Piper betle*, the leaf has a structure that looks like the *Kaduk* leaf. It is significant in Malay customs,

especially in traditional Malay weddings and other traditional customs. The Malays use *sirih* as a delivery in the Malay wedding ceremony. It is also used in conjunction with someone in the process of curing the patient.

Ulam

A traditional salad produced from fresh leaves, vegetables or fruits which can be eaten raw or soaked in hot water. It is commonly eaten with special traditional sauces such as *cincalok* or *sambal belacan*. It is recognised as a popular vegetable condiment in traditional village cultures.

Ulam Raja

An edible herb and its common names include *kenikir* (Indonesia) or *ulam raja* ("the King's salad" in Malaysia). In Indonesian cuisine and Malay cuisine, the leaves of this plant are used for salad, and it is usually served with *sambal belacan*.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

FGD Focus Group Discussion

FRIM Forest Research Institute of Malaysia

MARDI Malaysia Agricultural Research and Development Institute

MCT Modern Cooking Techniques

MLH Malaysian Local Herbs

MMC Modern Malaysian Cuisine

MOTAC Ministry of Tourism, Arts, and Cultures

MTE Modern Technology Equipment

NNC New Nordic Cuisines

R&D Research and Development

PCA Professional Culinaire Association of Malaysia

SOP Standard Operating Procedures

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Chapter Overview

The introduction of this study entitled "Eliciting Chefs' Creativity in Utilising Malaysian Local Herbs in the Development of Modern Malaysian Cuisine" begins with an overview of the research background. This section exemplifies the application of local herbs in each ethnic cooking practice in Malaysia, the wave and impact of modernisation on the food and beverages (F&B) sector, and the rise of modernist cuisine, which is positively linked with chefs' creativity in developing and innovating new cuisines. In particular, this study constitutes a new domain with a largely understudied potential of local herbs in the realm of culinary practices. Its essence is highlighted in the problem statement, along with the research questions, followed by the significance of the study from two diverse perspectives, practical and academic, in the last section of this chapter.

1.2 Background of the Study

Malaysian cuisine presents an array of local gastronomic inventions that represent the cultural diversity and uniqueness of the national cultural heritage. If there is one thing Malaysians are most proud of, it is undoubtedly the food. Malaysia is a paradise and utopia for food lovers, and Malaysians generally appreciate their multicultural society's unique gastronomic heritage. The food makes Malaysia unique; it takes advantage of the plethora of natural resources and ingredients available more than in any other Asian country. Chronologically, Malaysian gastronomy was derived from various sources of ingredients and cultures representing different types of regional cuisines. Sharif and Nor (2016) explained the norm of ingredients as forms of recipes that contribute to the specific characteristics and flavours of cuisines. Henceforth, in the most basic doctrine, food has frequently been credited with offering a good vantage point for observing globalisation among societies, cultures, and places (Civitello, 2011; Toussaint-Samat, 2009; Yoshino, 2010). The diversity of cultures constructed within Malaysian society ranges from Malay, Chinese, Indian, and Eurasian to the various indigenous groups of the peninsula and North Borneo. Each culture has dramatically influenced Malaysian cuisine. According to the Department of Statistics Malaysia (2020), Malaysian residents are divided along ethnic lines, with 69.1% considered as Bumiputera or Bumiputra (literally meaning "sons of the soil") who are characterised in the constitution as Muslims who practice the Malay custom and culture. Meanwhile, 23.0% of the population are Chinese descendants, whereas those of Indian origin account for 6.9% of the population and 1% of the indigenous group ("Original People" or "Orang Asal', referring to the minorities of indigenous people who live in both Peninsular (West) and East Malaysia. In addition, in the eastern regions of Malaysia of Sarawak, Sabah, and Labuan, the Bumiputera includes all the indigenous groups mentioned in Article 161A of the Federal Constitution, such as Malay,

Dayak, Melanau (including Iban, Bidayuh, and Orang Ulu), Bajau, Kazadan Dusun, and other minorities indigenous groups (Nicholas, 2004).

Historically, Malaysian cuisine has been passed down from one generation to another. The creativity of Malaysians in diversifying their local produce manifests in an assortment of exciting recipes. Thus, given the historical background of Malaysia, it is considered an epitome to claim that the northern part of Malaysia, such as Kedah, Perlis, and Kelantan, has many influences from Thailand in terms of the style of cuisines as these states are situated at the border of the neighbour country (Hutton, 2005; Leong & Karim, 2015). In a similar vein, Terengganu and Pahang, which share the border with Kelantan, also have Thai influences in their cuisine. The extensive use of tamarind, lime, sour carambola (belimbing buluh), and chillies are typical in Thailand and northern Malaysian cuisines for the intense flavour of sour and spicy (Hutton, 2005; Leong & Karim, 2015). Meanwhile, fresh herbs such as Vietnamese basil (daun kesum), pandanus leaf, and Thai basil (daun kemanggi) are commonly used to add an authentic taste to northern cuisines (Hutton, 2005; Yoshino, 2010).

Conceivably, the utilisation of herbs in daily life has been observed for hundreds of years (Zakaria, 2015). Herbs are categorised in different ways, depending on the context for which the term is used. Anthropologically, the botanical acronym of "herbs" is commonly denoted as small plants with delicate stems containing minimal woody tissues (Embuscado, 2015; Peter, 2006; Samy, Sugumaran, & Lee, 2004). However, from the culinary lens, herbs can be depicted as the edible part of plants traditionally used to enhance the flavour or aroma of food (Clemenson, 2018; Kains, 2018; Reed, 2016; Robbers & Tyler, 2000). Local herbs are traditionally cultivated and produced locally in the country or region (Ohiokpehai, 2009; Trobe, 2001). The terminology "local" is closely associated with tradition and nature and thus reflects the identity of a native and culture (Dusselier, 2009; Gatten, 2016). Few studies have demonstrated that local ingredients and traditional food preparation are integral to the identity of regional foods and, by extension, the people who consume them (see Cawley et al., 2002; Duram & Cawley, 2012; Hamzah et al., 2013; Hein & Watts, 2010; Miele & Murdoch, 2002; Sonnino & Marsden, 2006).

Malaysia is one of the most significant contributors to the world's biodiversity. According to the Convention on Biological Diversity (2016), Malaysia ranks 12th internationally and 4th in Asia as a bio-diversified country. Most of the world's plant species stay obscure and hidden, yet an expected 400,000 species are believed to exist. Most of these are found in the tropical rainforest, with the Southeast Asian rainforests being home to 6,500 therapeutic or medicinal plant species (Reed, 2016). Geographically, Malaysia lies on the equator and receives significant rainfall, with 58.1% covered with tropical rainforests in the last century (Samy et al., 2004). As a result, temperatures are high year-round, providing the perfect condition for overflowing plant life (Hirschman & Swee-Hock, 2006). Malaysia's diversity of plant life is among the most noteworthy in the world. More than 2,000 herb species have a high potential for commercialisation in Malaysia (BERNAMA, 2019; Samy et al., 2004). The local herb market is expected to

expand by 15% a year, from RM17 billion (USD 4.1 billion) in 2013 to around RM32 billion (USD 7.6 billion) by 2020 (BLOOMBERG, 2019). This shows local herbs' potential growth and contribution to the economy. All these natural resources, which are promptly accessible in this country, allow the variation and creation of a vast array of astonishing delicacies.

However, in Malaysia, the utilisation of Malaysian local herbs (MLH), particularly in fine dining practices, is still at a laggard point (Abidin et al., 2020a). This unfortunate situation has created a stiff perception among Malaysians that the local herbs used in local dishes are considered native and traditional. In other words, the perceived value of MLH has only been portrayed in local or traditional dishes, which pins such limitations to the herbs' potential. The most common local herbs found in Malaysian cuisines as well as other Southeast Asian cuisines include curry leaf, lemongrass, garlic, tamarind, bamboo shoot, shallots, coriander leaf, turmeric, lime leaf, galangal, scallion, and onions (Raji, Ab Karim, Ishak, & Arshad, 2017). Furthermore, in food consumption, Samy et al. (2004) denoted that some herbs are typically eaten raw in many countries, especially in Southeast Asia. In Malaysia, these herbs are called ulam, served on plates of mixed greens or salads in traditional Malay meals. These herbs are devoured raw or blanched in hot water to expel any latex properties. They are typically dipped in a special spicy shrimp-based homemade sauce known as sambal belacan to enhance the taste.

The diverse use of herbs differs in every culture (Hutton, 2005) and symbolises distinctive flavours that portray different cultures through cooking (i.e., oregano represents the Italian region, and bay leaves roots for America). In Malaysia, each ethnic group has its way of transforming nature's bounty, which may return slathered with herbs and spices. For instance, in Malay cooking, herbs' most apparent use is in herbal rice or gastronomically known as *nasi kerabu*¹. The extensive use of herbs is also practised in Chinese cooking. Herbs such as galangal, turmeric, lemongrass, ginger-torch flower, or *bunga kantan* are considered essential in making the famous *mee karl*².

On the other hand, the Indian cuisine in Malaysia is inspired by or adapted from India. The vast majority of the Indian population in Malaysia came mainly from Tamil ethnic descendants of the Indian state of Tamil Nadu and Sri Lanka (Hutton, 2005). Therefore, aromatic herbs such as curry, coriander, and mint leaves are considered the principal in Malaysia's typical Indian cuisines. This can be seen in the process of making fish head curry, a special delicacy where the head of a fish (usually *ikan merah* or red snapper) is braised in thick, spicy curry gravy with a variety of vegetables such as okras, tomatoes, and brinjals.

¹ A blue-coloured rice classically eaten with dried fish or fried chicken, crackers, pickles, *sambal*, and other salads. The blue shade of the rice is derived from the petals of butterfly-pea flowers (*Clitoria ternatea*) or *bunga telang* in an overnight soaking process to get the essential colour.

² Yellow noodles served with spicy curry broth fortified with herbs and coconut milk and accompanied with assorted seafood, vegetables, herbs and with homemade *sambal* served on the side.

Practically, herbs are used at the beginning of the cooking process to enhance the aroma of the curry.

As the world becomes more revolutionised, the phenomenon of globalisation has had a significant impact on food systems worldwide (Kennedy et al., 2004). Hence, the urge for modernisation is a revolt (Reardon & Timmer, 2012). Modernisation has instigated a substantial change in human civilisations and has been considered a global trend since the eighteen century. It incorporates considerable growth and transformation from traditional to modern politics, economies, societies, culture, human development, and local habitat protection (Marsh, 2014; Sharif et al., 2016; Vogel, 2008). Besides that, cultural and creative products must satisfy consumers, requiring a combination of "familiarity to understand what they are offered, and novelty to enjoy it" (Lampel, Shamsie, & Lant, 2005, p. 292). In this sense, the development of new products results from an effort to search for and recombine elements that simultaneously give legitimacy, acceptance, and distinctiveness (Lampel et al., 2000; Lounsbury & Glynn, 2001). The impact may have influenced local herbs' applications and menu development in the food service industry (Aziz & Pawi, 2016). Until the late 1980s, fine-dining restaurants that showcase high-end cuisines using local herbs and ingredients were scarce in Malaysia. Local herbs were typically showcased and used in local dishes, which were commonly available in roadside hawker stalls. Devastatingly, most well-recognised restaurants or hotels refused to serve local dishes in their establishments. Ergo, the attention on local herbs then seemed to be at its lowest point. However, with the culinary revolution, Folch (2008) and Osborn (2014) proposed that food modernisation has positive effects in rearranging and abridging the preparation of meals. In this notion, socio-demographic factors such as urbanisation overhauls, increased purchasing power, and food consumption patterns have modernised food ingredients (Baines & Seal, 2012). Consequently, many home cooks and even highly-trained chefs have become progressively susceptive to grasping modernisation and utilising modern components in their cooking practice and application (Sharif et al., 2016), which suggests that modernisation is becoming adaptable and adjustable in daily life.

In recent times, a new range of technologies and techniques have become more acceptable and applicable in professional kitchens. Hence, in the current trend known as modernist cuisine, the influence of these new applications is highly associated with and is pioneered by the luxury end sector or fine-dining restaurants (Myhrvold et al., 2011b). In defining the acronym of modernist cuisine, Myhrvold, Young, and Bilet (2011a) portrayed that "...modernist cuisine is a combination of ingredient, creativity, art, technique, and modern technology in the creation of a modern constructed plated dishes" (p. 56). The authors described that the techniques involve equipment and technologies that use precise and accurate time and temperature sensors to quantify cooking techniques with high precision (Myhrvold et al., 2011b). In so doing, these radical modernisation changes may be regarded as an opportunity for the chefs to fully utilise their creativity to bring out the potential of MLH in modern cuisines development. Furthermore, Cousins, O'Gorman, and Stierand (2010) stressed that modern cuisine development was positively associated with the chef's

creativity and skill. The authors' voices are in line with recent studies whereby results showed that both creativity and skill of the chefs are essential fundamentals in developing creative cuisines (Lee, Blum, Miao, & Tomas, 2019; Lee, 2018; Lee, Blum, Miao, & Tomas, 2020; Peng et al., 2013). Henceforth, having greater insight into chefs' creative minds would yield more constructive information about new cooking developments.

1.3 Problem Statement

Hitherto, there exists friction in applying MLH, particularly in culinary practices. The strain is deemed the focal point of the Malaysian government's Primary Entry Point Project for the country's Agriculture National Key Economy Areas, which only focuses on (i) pharmaceutical products; (ii) research and development (R&D) in medicinal studies; (iii) therapeutic products development; and (iv) bio-pesticides³. Numerous studies have explored the extensive use of MLH in food nutritional compounds (Embuscado, 2015; Ranilla, Kwon, Apostolidis, & Shetty, 2010; Vallverdú-Queralt et al., 2014). Others, on the other hand, studied the applications of MLH in medicinal practices and herbs knowledge management (Bachok et al., 2014; Kaefer & Milner, 2008; Kim Sooi & Lean Keng, 2013; Rastogi et al., 2016; Sahri & Harun, 2012; Seetaloo et al., 2019). However, these past research works neglect the role of MLH, which is underutilised in modern cooking practices, leaving a gap in culinary management as studies of this issue in the literature is limited. Scholars (Abidin et al., 2020a, 2022; Aziz, 2017; Aziz & Pawi, 2016) supported this view by claiming that today's utilisation of MLH in modern cooking practices is seemingly at the lowest point. Henceforth, it is noteworthy to explore the potential and application of MLH in modern cuisine development to make cuisines more recognisable globally. To capitalise on this gap, the present study directs its focus on exploring chefs' creativity by employing a qualitative approach.

Chefs, "the soul of the restaurant", can be classified as culinary artists (Horng & Lee, 2006). The chef is the central character of any full-service restaurant, unlike street cuisine and guesthouses available since antiquity offers a menu with different options that go beyond meeting the physiological need to eat. This extensive list of items allows people to eat what they want. The menu is designed to seduce, instigate taste, and encourage a willingness to try new flavours. Although their skills and expertise can be developed and tested through their culinary creations and certification, their creativity is difficult to quantify using easily identifiable tools and measures. According to Peterson and Birg (1988), chefs are similar to commercial artists who develop their creations within time constraints. To reach the highest level of culinary excellence, chefs require intense levels of dedication and professionalism in order to spark their creativity (Pratten, 2003b).

With the competition among restaurants for "stomach share" nearing Game of Thrones intensity levels, chefs are flexing

5

_

³ Initial Program Booklet NKEA EPP1, 2011 Ministry of Agriculture and Agro-based Industries

their creative muscles even harder to capture their share of customer dollars. But pushing the edges of culinary creativity will only take you so far when it comes to attracting new guests and can actually force you over the cliff if you are not careful. Innovation—the ability to harness new ideas and make them work for your restaurant, is creativity's true partner. Chefs love to concoct edgy menu items that represent our creative drive on the plate, but if that menu item does not represent the restaurant's brand, is too complex for the kitchen to pull off consistently, or does not meet goals for food cost and margin, then it doesn't belong on the menu. Period. That is why menu innovation has to ride shotgun with creativity (Haerle, 2019:1).

The above statement rhetorically emphasises the critical role of creativity in the culinary industry. Furthermore, the culinary revolution of *nouvelle cuisine*, which reinvented the food industry in the 1970s, was underpinned by creativity (Gillespie, 1994; Horng & Lee, 2006 cited in Robinson, 2011: 36). Horng and Lee (2009) observed that culinary creativity is a skill-oriented discipline, which they claim is essential to elevate the culinary profession's status. Unlike creativity in general, Chossat and Gergaud (2003) characterised culinary creativity as the refinement of classical or traditional culinary art, implying that culinary creativity does not originate entirely from new ideas (Horng & Hu, 2008: 376). This exemplifies one of culinary creativity's distinguishing characteristics.

Nevertheless, in the past, chefs have been strictly conditioned by the culinary apprenticeship tradition to create new dishes freely. Chefs once saw the advent of scientific methods as an adversary in their kitchen. Most of them were "unduly attached to their beliefs, traditions, practices, culinary superstitions, and old wives' tales or folklore persisted for a long time" (Kurti & This, 1994, p.66). However, the rivalries in the culinary field have become fiercer, and today, many restaurants are striving to offer more on the table to attract more customers. Moreover, we live in an "experience economy", where consumers become more aggressive in seeking out experiences that intrigue, innovate, and inspire (Pine & Gilmore, 1998). As the sector is becoming increasingly competitive, chefs are constantly pressured to produce new dishes and menus that attract consumers who seek outstanding gastronomical experiences. Hence, they are expected to create a unique and distinct dining experience beyond offering quality products. Kudrowitz, Oxborough, Choi, and Stover (2014) and Pang (2017) denote that chefs play an important role in showcasing every ingredient's potential. That said, chefs must design products with creative appeal and aesthetically develop a style and identity that is distinctive enough to be recognised as their own (DeSoucey, 2016; Lee et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020; Leschziner, 2015). In another sense, chefs can be hypothetically postulated as "designers" who play with innovation and transformation of ingredients as well as the capability to adapt their skills to the current technologies and modern techniques (Klauser, 2007; Murphy & Smith, 2009; Stierand, Dörfler, & Macbryde, 2014; Stierand, Dörfler, & Sadler-Smith, 2015). This aesthetical view is supported by Fraser and Lyon (2018), who claimed that in professional practice, new kitchen technologies and techniques have perpetually construed chefs.

However, in modern cuisine development, chefs must deal with enormous tension between creative expression, menu susceptibility, and technological advancement (Bouty & Gomez, 2013; Capdevila et al., 2015). These are illposed puzzles by their very nature. Past studies have shown that the impact of technology on kitchen practice is not generally seen as benign but has rather been associated with chef attrition rates, changes in occupational culture (i.e., job-hopping), and diminished opportunities for creativity to nourish in the menu development process (Fine, 2008; Fine, 2006; Fraser & Lyon, 2018; Robinson & Barron, 2007; Robinson & Beesley, 2010). On the other hand, despite the long-debated controversy within the chef profession, it has also resulted in a job of low repute, underpaid, and loaded with unattractive work conditions (Ghiselli et al., 2001; Pratten, 2003a), gender inequality (Albors Garrigos et al., 2020; Kiester, 2016), hostile work environment (Jung & Yoon, 2018; Mathisen et al., 2011; Murray-Gibbons & Gibbons, 2007) with a solid propensity to manifest violent and abusive behaviours (Bloisi & Hoel, 2008; Smith et al., 2021), packed with tedious and repetitive chores (Lee-Ross, 1999; Robinson, Solnet, & Breakey, 2014). These traits, therefore, may result in negative connotations and intimidation for chefs to cultivate and disperse their creativity in developing innovative cuisines. It has been agreed that "true creativity" requires specific moments dedicated to chefs' thought processes, idea development, and mixing elements from different ingredients in creating new cuisines (Bouty et al., 2015; Bouty & Gomez, 2013). The innuendo was thus elucidated by a French chef and book writer, Edouard Nignon, as he concurs, "a chef should be free to express his own individuality" (Dornenburg & Page, 1996, p. 291).

At present, chefs are striving to navigate their creativity to employ local herbs in modern cuisines, commonly practised in the fine-dining restaurant industry (Feuls, 2018; Messeni Petruzzelli & Savino, 2014). This predicament may be called a "stereotyped culture". Indeed, most chefs and apprentices in the kitchen are overly exposed and "formatted" to Wayne Gisslen's Professional Cooking, the most admired culinary compendium in every culinary school. Consequently, they are often only mentally oriented and familiar with imported culinary herbs. In this defence, it is prudently fair to assume that the chefs have less knowledge and understanding of MLH, inhibiting their confidence to creatively utilise, modernise, and showcase MLH in their menu because they are more exposed to western culture and technique since the early stage of their career. Regardless, the growing trend in fine-dining restaurants has become a powerful platform for chefs to adequately portray their creativity in modern cuisines development (Roque et al., 2018). Past studies have proved that chefs in finedining restaurants perceived creativity and innovation as an apparatus and driving force for breaking so-called traditional cooking cultures by modernising them with modern cooking techniques (Borkenhagen, 2017a, 2017b; Cousins et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2013; Spence & Youssef, 2018). Practically, one of the ways to promote MLH demand is through the creation of modern Malaysian cuisines (MMC). This unique cuisine is typically crafted and served at fine-dining restaurants as it requires highly creative chefs and modern cooking techniques

(MCT) (Borkenhagen, 2017b). Furthermore, the fine-dining sector may be regarded as a getaway for international tourists to experience unique Malaysian gastronomy and local herbs through modern cuisine offerings. Everett (2008) asserted that tourists generally have expectations of foreign and exotic cuisines and the authenticity of tasting local food since food is affordable for tourists to indulge in while visiting (Reynolds, 1993). Gastronomy is considered an increasingly important element of the tourist experience. Research in this area has been conducted in various ways: some more rational or emotional, focusing on analysing relationality and co-creation (Richards, 2021). As illustrated by Grbac and Milohanovic (2008), food products are the essence of "pleasure and an unavoidable element in creating an authentic and unique travelling experience" (p. 83). Pragmatically, this could be a new platform to introduce MLH to the new market segment (as tourists might never have encountered Malaysian unique local herbs before, particularly in MMC) and showcase them to the world as they might share their experiences internationally.

In Malaysia, the contribution of fine-dining restaurants to the country's economic growth is significantly substantial. According to a report from Euromonitor International (2015), the revenue for full-service restaurants has grown constantly over the decade. From 2008 until 2012, the full-service restaurant subsector recorded a Compound Annual Rate Growth of 3.3%, recording a total revenue of RM15.8 million in 2012, and it was predicted that the full-service restaurant subsector's revenue would grow incessantly from 2013 to 2017, reaching a total revenue of RM19.4 million from 2017 onwards. Conceptually, fine-dining restaurants can be categorised as a full-service concept primarily because of the restaurants' full-table service (a form of service in restaurants whereby food and drink are served to the customer) (Spears & Gregoire, 2007). The improvement in revenue shows that the demand for fine-dining restaurants is expanding. Interestingly, a review by Michael (2019) showed that the demand for MMC has been progressively sprouting after the debut of the BETA restaurant that pairs both local and modern ingredients harmoniously by incorporating modern cooking techniques in their own interpretation of "Bird's Nest"—comprising of a coconut sphere, lychee bits, and water chestnut served on a bed of dry ice (see Figure 1.1). Hence, from a practical perspective, this implies a potential for MMC to flourish in the market.



Figure 1.1 : BETA's interpretation of bird's nest

(Source : Author's source)

However, devastatingly, the application of MLH in fine-dining scenes in Malaysia appears to be declining due to the limited knowledge of chefs of local herbs resulting in them only using common or imported culinary herbs (i.e., bay leaf, thyme, basil, sage, oregano, cilantro, dill, marjoram, to name a few) and ingredients in menu development (Abidin et al., 2020a, 2022; Ali, 2008; Aziz & Pawi, 2016; Fieldhouse, 2014). Accordingly, a balance is required that combines traditional and new elements whose results are inherently uncertain and contradictory (Dacin & Dacin, 2008; Hirsch, 2000). Most fine-dining restaurants in Malaysia are still dominated by the European or Eurasian cooking style, which fabricates imported ingredients in their menus. In a similar vein, Spence (2018) and Aziz (2017) pointed out that one common issue in modern cuisines development nowadays is the vague idea or concept and the absence of customer appeal. This view is supported by Dewakan restaurant executive chef Darren Teoh, in an interview with *TimeOut Magazine*, where he claimed that:

The market prefers to jump from hype to hype. There is no analytical skill for a lot of decisions that we make. And that is why you will not find many people opening restaurants focused on local ingredients. Because "local" is a bad word (Ragavan, 2015).

Thus, there is a stiff challenge for chefs to exploit their creativity to utilise and incorporate MLH in modern menu development, and creativity is a vital essence

for a chef to develop new cuisines (Bouty & Gomez, 2013; Lee et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020; Otero, 2018; Stierand et al., 2009a).

In light of the aforementioned, it is essential to emphasise MLH in this study, as herbs have been established and used in various cuisines to represent many cultures (Hutton, 2005; Raji et al., 2017). Consequently, if MLH is underutilised in today's cooking practices, their niche and nature's familiarity and exclusivity will likely be outshined by common or imported culinary herbs and gradually diminish in the future. It is also frightening that MLH may one day be extinct. Therefore, one way of rectifying this phenomenon is to depict the chef's creativity in utilising local herbs to their full potential to expose Malaysians and even global audiences to the uniqueness of MLH in a portrayal of haute cuisine heights. This may also potentially shatter Malaysians' conception of MLH as native and traditional and only utilised in local dishes. Hence, this qualitative study purposely chose MLH to portray the depth and uniqueness of Malaysian identity and culture, while chefs are harnessed as vessels or artists to metamorphose MLH into such fashionable arts. Simultaneously, it uncovers chefs' underlying creativity in maximising and modernising MLH's potential to its fullest, particularly in developing and compartmentalising their creative thought process in creating modern cuisine to support government initiatives to preserve MLH and encourage the potential use of MLH in modern cooking practises.

1.4 Research Objectives

In a postmodern society characterised by the fluidity of concepts, dealing with food requires a reflection on the transformations of eating. In this scenario, the chefs' work gains more space and importance. Therefore, the primary objective of this study is to investigate and illuminate chefs' creativity in utilising MLH in contemplating the creation of MMC. Thus, these sub-objectives are needed to support this primary research's purpose:

- To explore the essentialities of knowledge in Malaysian local herbs (MLH) for chefs and their roles in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC);
- ii. To describe the challenges faced by chefs to creatively utilise Malaysian local herbs (MLH) in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC);
- iii. To discover the application of modern cooking techniques (MCT) and modern technology equipment (MTE) perceived by the chefs as an aid to creativity in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC); and
- iv. To conceptualise the ideal concept of chefs' creativity by utilising Malaysian local herbs (MLH) in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC).

1.5 Research Questions

Referring to the identified problem statement, it can be concluded that Malaysian local herbs (MLH) are underutilised in modern cuisine development. Thus, to support the objectives and direction of this study, the following research questions are formulated:

- i. What is the role of knowledge in Malaysian local herbs (MLH) for chefs and its essentialities in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC)?
- ii. What are the challenges faced by chefs to utilise Malaysian local herbs (MLH) in developing modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC)?
- iii. How do chefs creatively employ modern cooking techniques (MCT) and modern technology equipment (MTE) in creating modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC)? How are they perceived as an aid to creativity?
- iv. How do chefs conceptualise and arrive at the ideal concept of creativity by utilising Malaysian local herbs (MLH) in the development of modern Malaysian cuisine (MMC)?

1.6 Scope of Study

The development of creativity and innovation in culinary art is a continuous process that brought us the diversity of current food and cuisines. From the nouvelle cuisine in the 1970s to fusion and molecular cuisine, various innovations suggested that culinary creativity is closely integrated with culture, art, science, and technology. Therefore, exploring the proximity and epiphany of the creativity concept as a whole was deemed beyond the scope of the current study. The scope of the study was limited to the revisitation (or rather reconceptualisation) of a previously developed creative culinary process framework to gain a better understanding of how the chefs nurture and compartmentalise their creative thought processes in utilising, incorporating, and modernising MLH into captivatingly innovative cuisines yet resembled the uniqueness of the Malaysian cultures across multi-sites fine dining restaurant in Kuala Lumpur.

Besides that, exploring the existing creative culinary phenomenon and creativity innate as lived-experienced for a chef as well as the attempt to capture the essence of culinary creativity from aesthetic views, were not part of the current study's objectives. Furthermore, this study was not conducted to describe or explicate the developed framework with the existing frameworks of the creative culinary process found in previous studies that emphasised and tapped on the extrinsic performance of the culinary artists—the chefs. The current study was specifically conducted to scrutinise the chefs' knowledge of MLH and also to obtain a better understanding of the challenges and measures taken by the chefs

to tame the phenomena of the underutilisation of MLH in modern cuisine development. On the same note, this study also seeks the emergence of MCT and MTE as an aid for chefs to fashion MMC creatively. Ultimately, this study aimed to develop a dynamic creative culinary process framework through the hybridised model of Horng and Hu and Amabile's theory for modern chefs to showcase and stimulate their creativity in developing tantalising menus.

Adding to that, the creative culinary process framework in this study was developed for modern fine dining restaurants that practised modern high-end cuisines, specifically focusing on cultural nuances and ingredients (i.e., MLH and MMC). The use of this framework was not meant to be generalised for all restaurant establishments. Considering the exploratory nature of the current study, this study did not employ a large sample of informants and restaurants to measure the efficiency of the developed framework. In particular, the developed framework was only applied to partial segments of the restaurant establishments participating in this study. Feedback from the other "culturally-segmented" restaurants would be beneficial to support the improvements and justify the applicability of the developed framework.

1.7 Significance of Study

1.7.1 Industrial and Managerial Perspectives

From the industrial lens, the findings from this study are beneficial to form the basis of guidelines for major government bodies such as the Ministry of Tourism, Arts, and Cultures (MOTAC), Ministry of Agriculture (MOA), Forestry Department Peninsular Malaysia, and Malaysia Agriculture Research and Development Institute (MARDI) in developing promotional strategies for extensive uses of MLH in cooking practices throughout the various perspectives from the chefs. This may simultaneously make MLH more recognisable and celebrated locally and internationally. Moreover, Forest Research Institute Malaysia (FRIM) announced they were interested in working with agencies to enhance the quality of the herbal product, competitiveness, and the ability to penetrate local and international markets (FRIM, 2018). This demonstrates the real potential of this study to merge with the plan. As such, it would be useful for those agencies to carve out a new market niche for MLH to make them more recognisable in modern cooking and different economic spheres. Furthermore, this study exemplifies the barriers and hustles chefs experience to utilise, incorporate, and modernise MLH in creating MMC and tackle the underlying attributes inside the mind of a creative chef. Hence, this will benefit both chefs and restaurateurs of high-end outlets to elevate the potential of MLH to the top-notch level despite isolating and connoting the "treasured gems" to only traditional dishes.

From a managerial standpoint, this study offers an opportunity to allow restaurateurs to create more prolific and effective environments for chefs to disperse their creativity freely. As sturdy as they may be seen, chefs are nonetheless vulnerable human beings. That said, they need to re-energise, have time to reflect, and entice the work environment to stimulate fresh and innovative ideas. A restaurant's reputation exerts tremendous pressure on the creativity of chefs. Therefore, it is legally crucial for restaurant managers to cater and design a prolific workplace for chefs to nurture and amplify their creativity. For example, Ferran Adria separated his restaurant spatially and temporally to protect his creative freedom and emancipation from a creativity workshop where he and his team could freely explore and experiment. He shuttered his restaurant for six months of the year to give himself time and space for exploration (Svejenova et al., 2007, 2010). To date, many or most of the world's best chefs employ Andria's creative "laboratory" concept to conceive and test new ideas before implementing some of them in restaurants. Likewise, this study intends to encourage managers and organisations to legitimise different creative patterns and trends, including more spontaneous strategies such as imagination and improvisation, in a creative process that attracts academic attention in fastchanging environments (Liu et al., 2018). While new product development processes need to be organised and standard procedures need to be established to ensure production stability over time, unusual patterns may also be embraced and valued. They can help manage unforeseen situations and more fluid contexts (Weick, 2015). Also, it is noteworthy to take into consideration of the startling outbreak of COVID-19 that has impacted and drained the industry to its lowest boiling point to survive and stay afloat, thereby posing existential threats to the restaurant businesses. Given the substantial impacts of the crisis on the industry, chefs, managers, and the top management are compelled to synthesise the critical assessment of state-of-the-art crisis management (Hartmann & Lussier, 2020; Leta & Chan, 2021), which are the actions and communications that organisations systematically undertake to reduce the likelihood of a crisis, mitigate crisis impact, and re-establish order after a crisis (Bundy et al., 2017; Pearson & Clair, 1998). Henceforth, by adopting this circumstance into a persuasive one, the findings from this may articulate the difficulties encountered during the crisis and contextualise the thoughts expressed by the informants who participate in this study, which would benefit the post-pandemic industry's future direction. Finally, findings from this study may help to reduce barriers to the underutilisation of MLH and foster a culture of culinary innovation.

1.7.2 Theoretical Perspective

Although numerous studies on local herbs have been carried out, the role and application of MLH in cooking practices, particularly in modern cuisine development, remains unexplored. Hence, an in-depth analysis of this qualitative multiple-case study unequivocally contributes to modern Malaysian food literature through the lens of the manifestation of eight notable and highly creative chefs. The findings shed new light on the current debate on creativity and innovation and explain how different creation patterns unfold. It reflects an initial effort to investigate the assimilation of the agriculture and gastronomy sector's creative culinary process, which is still uncultivated. This study sequentially portrays a process that facilitates chefs' creativity in utilising MLH in MMC development. Existing literature endeavours to harness creativity—in culinary, it is focused on its predictions and precursors (Horng & Lee, 2009;

Jeou-Shyan & Lee, 2007; Stierand, 2015; Stierand & Lynch, 2008) as well as its consequences (Burrow et al., 2015; Robinson et al., 2014; Robinson & Beesley, 2010). Others conversely viewed creativity as a non-linear narrative (Lee et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020) and the "subjectivism" of lived experiences (Stierand & Dörfler, 2012; Stierand et al., 2009). In comparison, this study argues (or more fittingly proposes) that creativity can be developed into organised patterns—if not linear, then specifically on how the chefs schematise, compartmentalise, and articulate their thought process in developing an innovative cuisine. Fundamentally, this study also adds more paramount significance to the realm of culinary creativity. In this sense, few researchers have explicitly made a position to contend its uniqueness, as existing studies studied culinary creativity as a minor branch of creativity literature (Albors-Garrigos et al., 2013; Lin & Baum, 2016; Pang, 2017; Presenza et al., 2017). Moreover, the findings of this study expand the academic context of culinary creativity for future planning of culinary education as creativity continues to rule as a survival skill in today's economy and society (Astuty & Suryana, 2018; Das, 2016; Eren & Aydin, 2019; Lorenzen, 2019; Presenza et al., 2017; Wilcoxson & Moore, 2019). Finally, by tackling the phenomenon of underutilisation of MLH in modern cuisines development with the recombinant of culinary creativity from the viewpoints of chefs, this study hopes to magnify some much-needed evidence to "real" culinary creativity as an independent and distinct field for academic exploration and perhaps uplift the value of MLH through MMC development towards international recognition in the nearest future.

1.8 Definition of Key Terminologies

Before proceeding, it is imperative to define and clarify several key terms that are used throughout this study. Each terminology drawn is supported by previous literature and is modified for the relevance of this study.

Herbs

Botanically, herbs denote small plants with delicate stems containing minimal woody tissues (Embuscado, 2015a; Peter, 2006; Samy et al., 2004). From the culinary lens, herbs are the edible part of plants traditionally utilised to enhance and intensify flavour or food aroma (Clemenson, 2018; Hayaloglu & Farkye, 2011; Kains, 2018; Reed, 2016; Robbers & Tyler, 2000).

Malaysian Local Herbs (MLH)

Herbs which are typically cultivated and produced locally in an area concerning the country or region (Ohiokpehai, 2009; Trobe, 2001).

Chef

A trained, professional cook proficient in food preparation who often focuses on a particular cuisine, whose profession requires a specific set of creative thinking skills to perform a task. A chef is also portrayed as a manager, innovator, artist, and flavour expert in the culinary field (Dornenburg & Page, 1996; Rédei, 2008; Ruhlman, 1999).

Creativity

The creation of new, unique, and interesting ideas that are useful, practical, and suitable for a given circumstance or problem solution. It refers to both the idea generation or problem-solving process and the actual idea or solution (Amabile, 1983).

Culinary creativity

This study takes upon the perspective of chefs' manifestation. Henceforth, it is defined as a generation of thoughts that takes after self-articulations of the chefs' inner states that reflects their personality, knowledge, skills, expertise, and experience (Horng & Lin, 2009; Jeou-Shyan & Lee, 2007; Lee et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020).

Innovation

The outcome of creativity is the output and benefit from the original creative ideas (Amabile, 1996).

Culinary Innovation

The outcome of culinary creativity which are the outputs and benefits from the original culinary creative ideas—in other words, the final or finished dish/menu (Stierand et al., 2014).

Modern Cooking Techniques (MCT) and Equipment (MTE)

New techniques involve equipment and technologies that use accurate time and temperature sensors to quantify cooking techniques with great precision (Myhrvold et al., 2011b; Spence & Piqueras-Fiszman, 2013).

Modern (ist) Cuisines

A combination of ingredients, creativity, art, technique, and modern technology to create a modern constructed cuisine (Myhrvold et al., 2011a, p. 56).

Modern Malaysian Cuisine (MMC)

A cuisine that evolves classic flavours to a more contemporary palate. It can be lighter and/or come in unexpected forms yet still retain Malaysian culture's

tastes, ingredients, and influences, using modern cooking techniques to revolutionise a new type of cuisine (Abidin et al., 2020b).

1.9 Thesis Organisation

Overall, this thesis consists of six chapters, which are organised as follows:

Chapter 1 introduces the pressing issue of underutilisation of MLH, particularly in the modern cuisine context. A constructivist paradigm was selected to address the research questions and specific objectives of the current study. This chapter also particularised the roles of the chefs as creative vessels to modernise MLH into innovative cuisines. Also, this chapter emphasised the significance of sustaining and elevating the utilisation of MLH through chefs' creativity. The constructivist approach helped to give structure to the overall study, which yielded both theoretical and practical contributions.

Chapter 2 focuses on reviewing the existing literature with regard to the problem statement highlighted in the previous chapter. This chapter elaborates on the etymology of herbs used in different cooking and culture and their significance to this study. It further narrates the culinary and modern cuisine movements. It explains the importance of culinary creativity as a process and the personification of modern chefs as artists in publicising and modernising MLH through the development of MMC. In this chapter, the integrated theory and model are also presented to illustrate the creative process articulated by the chefs in developing modern Malaysian cuisine. A theoretical framework is presented at the end of this chapter.

Chapter 3 describes the research paradigm and selected methodology and procedures for the current study. This chapter also presents the researcher's justifications for trustworthiness and ethical considerations.

Chapter 4 discusses the study's findings with respect to the specific objectives. The chapter presents the discussion according to each case.

Chapter 5 dismantles the similarities and differences of each case through the results of a cross-case analysis, which allows for reflection on the data and the development of a broader interpretation of the overall study.

Chapter 6 provides the conclusions and contributions of the study and presents the limitations of the current study and recommendations for future research.

REFERENCES

- Abbate, T., Presenza, A., Cesaroni, F., Meleddu, M., & Sheehan, L. (2019). Creativity and innovation in haute cuisine restaurants: factors affecting the creative process of Michelin-rated chefs. *Sinergie Italian Journal of Management*, 37(1), 109–124. https://doi.org/10.7433/s108.2019.07
- Abidin, M. R. Z., Ishak, F. A. C., Ismail, I. A., & Juhari, N. H. (2020a). Issues and Challenges of Malaysian Local Herbs Towards the Development of Local Herbs-Based Culinary Products. *Food Studies: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 10(3), 18–30. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.18848/2160-1933/CGP/v10i03/13-30
- Abidin, M. R. Z., Ishak, F. A. C., Ismail, I. A., & Juhari, N. H. (2020b). Modern Malaysian Cuisine: Identity, culture, or modern-day fad? *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2020.100220
- Abidin, M. R. Z., Ishak, F. A. C., Ismail, I. A., & Juhari, N. H. (2022). Explicating chefs' creativity in utilising Malaysian local herbs toward the development of modern Malaysian cuisine: A proposition of a conceptual framework for creative culinary process. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 46(101133). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2022.101133
- Abidin, M. R. Z., Muhammad, R., Abdullah, K. M., Sharif, M. S. M., & Abdul Talib, S. (2021). Foodways Practices Among Iranian Students in Malaysia. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 11(13), 181–196. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v11-i13/8514
- Acar, O. A., Tarakci, M., & Van Knippenberg, D. (2019). Creativity and Innovation Under Constraints: A Cross-Disciplinary Integrative Review. *Journal of Management*, 45(1), 96–121. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206318805832
- Adams, M. A., Pelletier, R. L., Zive, M. M., & Sallis, J. F. (2005). Salad bars and fruit and vegetable consumption in elementary schools: A plate waste study. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jada.2005.08.013
- Adler, P. A., Adler, P., & Weiss, R. S. (1995). Learning from Strangers: The Art and Method of Qualitative Interview Studies. *Contemporary Sociology*. https://doi.org/10.2307/2076552
- Aguilera, J. M. (2018). Relating food engineering to cooking and gastronomy. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 17(4), 1021–1039. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1541-4337.12361
- Ahmad, N. I., Abdullah, A., Abdullah, P., Lee, Y. H., Wan Mahiyuddin, W. R., Daud, S. F., & Lokman, H. S. (2010), Tabiat Pengambilan Ulam-Ulaman

- di Kalangan Orang Dewasa Pelbagai Etnik di Selangor. *Jurnal Sains Kesihatan Malaysia*, 8(2), 27–35.
- Al-Amer, R., Ramjan, L., Glew, P., Darwish, M., & Salamonson, Y. (2015). Translation of interviews from a source language to a target language: examining issues in cross-cultural health care research. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 24(9–10), 1151–1162. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12681
- Albors-Garrigos, J., Barreto, V., García-Segovia, P., Martínez-Monzó, J., & Hervás-Oliver, J. L. (2013). Creativity and innovation patterns of haute cuisine chefs. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2012.728978
- Albors-Garrigós, J., Martinez Monzo, J., & Garcia-Segovia, P. (2018). Knowledge dynamics as drivers of innovation in Haute Cuisine and culinary services. *Industry and Innovation*, *25*(1), 84–111. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2016.1268950
- Albors Garrigos, J., Haddaji, M., Garcia Segovia, P., & Peiro Signes, A. (2020). Gender Differences in the Evolution of Haute Cuisine Chef's Career. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 18(6), 439–468. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2019.1640156
- Ali, S. H. (2008). The Malays: Their Problems and Future. Islamic Book Trust.
- Allen, H., & Mac Con Iomaire, M. (2017). Secrets of a Head Chef: Exploring Factors Influencing Success in Irish Kitchens. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 15(3), 187–222. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2016.1225538
- Almerico, G. M. (2014). Food and Identity: Food Studies, Cultural, and Personal Identity. *Journal of International Business and Cultural Stuedies*.
- Amabile, T. M. (1983). The social psychology of creativity: A componential conceptualization. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *45*(2), 357–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.45.2.357
- Amabile, T. M. (1986). The personality of creativity. *Creative Living*, *15*(3), 12–16.
- Amabile, T. M. (1988). A Model of Creativity and Innovation in Organizations. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *10*, 123–167.
- Amabile, T. M. (1996). Creativity in Context. Westview Press.
- Amabile, T. M. (2017). In Pursuit of Everyday Creativity. *Journal of Creative Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.200
- Amabile, T. M. (2019). The Art of (Creative) Thought. In V. P. Glaveanu (Ed.), *The Creativity Reader* (pp. 15–32). Oxford University Press.

- Amabile, T. M., Barsade, S. G., Mueller, J. S., & Staw, B. M. (2005). Affect and creativity at work. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *50*(3), 367–403. https://doi.org/10.2189/asqu.2005.50.3.367
- Amabile, T. M., Conti, R., Coon, H., Lazenby, J., & Herron, M. (1996). Assessing the work environment for creativity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 39, 154–1184. https://doi.org/10.2307/256995
- Amabile, T. M., & Pratt, M. G. (2016). The dynamic componential model of creativity and innovation in organizations: Making progress, making meaning. *Research in Organizational Behavior*, *36*, 157–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riob.2016.10.001
- Angen, M. J. (2000). Evaluating interpretive inquiry: Reviewing the validity debate and opening the dialogue. *Qualitative Health Research*, *10*(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/104973230001000308
- Ariza-Montes, A., Arjona-Fuentes, J. M., Han, H., & Law, R. (2018). The price of success: A study on chefs' subjective well-being, job satisfaction, and human values. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 69, 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.10.006
- Arthur, W. B. (2007). The structure of invention. *Research Policy*, 36(2), 274–287. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2006.11.005
- Asheim, B. T., & Coenen, L. (2005). Knowledge bases and regional innovation systems: Comparing Nordic clusters. *Research Policy*, *34*(8), 1173–1190. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/i.respol.2005.03.013
- Astuty, E., & Suryana, S. (2018). Creative People as a New Source of Competitive Advantage in Creative Industry. Sebelas Maret Business Review. https://doi.org/10.20961/smbr.v2i1.13298
- Azima, F., & Sayuti, K. (2016). The evaluation of nutritional value of Rendang Minangkabau. *Agriculture and Agricultural Science Procedia*, *9*, 335–341. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaspro.2016.02.146
- Aziz, A. R. (2017). Malay Food: Innovate or Perish? *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality & Culinary Arts*, *9*(1), 50–63.
- Aziz, A. R., & Pawi, A. A. A. (2016). Redefining Malay Food in the Post Malaysia's New Economic Policy (NEP). *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality & Culinary Arts (JTHCA)*, *8*(2), 1–9.
- Bachok, M. F., Yusof, B. N. M., Ismail, A., & Hamid, A. A. (2014). Effectiveness of traditional Malaysian vegetables (ulam) in modulating blood glucose levels. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *23*(3), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.6133/apjcn.2014.23.3.01
- Baines, D., & Seal, R. (2012). Natural Food Additives, Ingredients and Flavourings. In *Natural Food Additives, Ingredients and Flavourings*. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857095725

- Bakar, B. B. (2009). The Malaysian Agricultural Industry in the New Millennium Issues and Challenges. *University of Malaya*.
- Baldwin, W. (2018). Chef's sabbatical: An analysis of chef's gastronomic research through culinary tourism. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 13, 65–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2018.05.006
- Ball, P. (2012). Curiosity: How Science Became Interested in Everything. The Bodley Head.
- Barbour, R. S., & Kitzinger, J. (1998). Developing Focus Group Research: Politics, Theory and Practice. In *SAGE Publications, Inc.* SAGE.
- Barden, P., Comber, R., Green, D., Jackson, D., Ladha, C., Bartindale, T., Bryan-Kinns, N., Stockman, T., & Olivier, P. (2012). Telematic dinner party: Designing for togetherness through play and performance. *Proceedings of the Designing Interactive Systems Conference, DIS '12*, 38–47. https://doi.org/10.1145/2317956.2317964
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative Case Study Methodology: Study Design and Implementation. *The Qualitative Report*.
- Beaugé, B. (2012). On the idea of novelty in cuisine: A brief historical insight. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2011.11.007
- Bendapudi, N., Zhan, S., & Hong, Y. Y. (2018). Cultural Values Differentially Moderate the Benefits of Basic Education on Two Types of National Innovation Outputs. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, *49*, 199–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022116650259
- Beoku-Betts, J. A. (1995). We got our way of cooking things: Women, Food, and Preservation of Cultural Identity among the Gullah. *Gender & Society*, 9(5), 535–555. https://doi.org/10.1177/089124395009005003
- Bereczki, E. O., & Kárpáti, A. (2021). Technology-enhanced creativity: A multiple case study of digital technology-integration expert teachers' beliefs and practices. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 39, 100791. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100791
- Berg, B. L. (2004). Methods for the Social Sciences. In *Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences*.
- Berlyne, D. E. (1966). Curiosity and exploration. *Science*, *153*(3731), 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.153.3731.25
- BERNAMA. (2019). *Malaysia's lucrative herb market*. Malay Mail. https://www.malaymail.com/news/money/2019/10/28/malaysian-herbal-industry-poised-to-hit-rm32b-market-value-in-2020/1804543

- Birks, M., Chapman, Y., & Francis, K. (2008). Memoing in qualitative research: Probing data and processes. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *13*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987107081254
- Black, C. E., Inkeles, A., & Smith, D. H. (1974). Becoming Modern: Individual Change in Six Developing Countries. In *Harvard University. Center for International Affairs*. Harvard University Press.
- Bloisi, W., & Hoel, H. (2008). Abusive work practices and bullying among chefs:

 A review of the literature. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 27(4), 649–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2007.09.001
- Bloom, J. D., & Hinrichs, C. C. (2011). Moving local food through conventional food system infrastructure: Value chain framework comparisons and insights. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 26(1), 13–23. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170510000384
- BLOOMBERG. (2019). Local herbal industry poised to hit RM32b market value in 2020. The Malaysian Reserve. https://themalaysianreserve.com/2019/10/29/local-herbal-industry-poised-to-hit-rm32b-market-value-in-2020/
- Bloor, M., Frankland, J., Thomas, M., & Robson, K. (2000). Focus Groups in Social Research. In Focus Groups in Social Research. SAGE.
- Blumenthal, H. (2008). The Big Fat Duck Cookbook. Bloomsbury.
- Borkenhagen, C. (2017a). Death of the secret recipe: "Open source cooking" and field organization in the culinary arts. *Poetics*, 61, 53–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2017.01.003
- Borkenhagen, C. (2017b). Evidence-based creativity: Working between art and science in the field of fine dining. *Social Studies of Science*, *47*(5), 630–654. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306312717725204
- Bourdieu, P. (1990). The Logic of Practice. Stanford University Press.
- Bouty, I., Gomez, M.-L., Garud, R., Simpson, B., & Langley, A. (2015). Creativity at work: Generating useful novelty in haute cuisine restaurants. *The Emergence of Novelty in Organizations, Perspectives on Process Organization Studies Series, November*, 216–241.
- Bouty, I., & Gomez, M. L. (2013). Creativity in haute cuisine: Strategic knowledge and practice in gourmet kitchens. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 11(1), 80–95. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2012.728979
- Bouty, I., Gomez, M. L., & Stierand, M. (2018). The creative leadership practices of haute cuisine chefs. In *Creative Leadership* (1st ed., pp. 156–170). Routledge.

- Boxenbaum, E., & Battilana, J. (2005). Importation as innovation: Transposing managerial practices across fields. *Strategic Organization*, *3*(4), 355–383.
- Brataianu, C. (2010). A Critical Analysis of Nonaka's Model of Knowledge Dynamics. *Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management*, 8(2), 193–200.
- Braverman, H. (1974). Labor and monopoly capital: The degradation of work in the Twentieth Century. Monthly Review Press.
- Braverman, H. (1998). Labor and Monopoly Capital: The Degradation of Work in the Twentieth Century. NYU Press.
- Brownlee, I. A. (2018). Memories of traditional food culture in the kampong setting in Singapore. *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, *5*(2), 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2018.02.007
- Bundy, J., Pfarrer, M. D., Short, C. E., & Coombs, W. T. (2017). Crises and crisis management: integration, interpretation, and research development. *Journal of Management*, 43(6), 1661–1692. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1177/0149206316680030
- Burgess, E. W. (1928). What social case studies records should contain to be useful for sociological interpretation. *Social Forces*, *6*(4), 524–532. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/3004329
- Burrow, R., Smith, J., & Yakinthou, C. (2015). 'Yes Chef': life at the vanguard of culinary excellence. *Work, Employment and Society, 29*(4), 673–681. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017014563103
- Byrkjeflot, H., Pedersen, J. S., & Svejenova, S. (2013). From label to practice: The process of creating new Nordic cuisine. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 11(1), 36–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2013.754296
- Cain, L., Busser, J., & Kang, H. J. (Annette). (2018). Executive chefs' calling: effect on engagement, work-life balance and life satisfaction. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(5), 2287–2307. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2017-0105
- Calaprice, A., & Lipscombe, T. (2005). *Albert Einstein: A biography*. Greenwood Publishing Group.
- Cameron, L., & Deignan, A. (2006). The emergence of metaphor in discourse. *Applied Linguistics*, 27(4), 671–690. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/applin/aml032
- Capdevila, I., Cohendet, P., & Simon, L. (2015). Establishing New Codes for Creativity through Haute Cuisine. The Case of Ferran Adrià and elBulli. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, *5*(7), 25–33. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2598942

- Cappellini, B., & Parsons, E. (2014). Constructing the culinary consumer: Transformative and reflective processes in Italian cookbooks. *Consumption Markets and Culture*, *17*(1), 71–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/10253866.2012.701893
- Carvalho, C. B., Vital, A. C. P., Carvalho Kempinski, E. M. B., Madrona, G. S., Reche, P. M., Guerrero, A., Ornaghi, M. G., & do Prado, I. N. (2018). Quality and Sensorial Evaluation of Beef Hamburger Made with Herbs, Spices, and Reduced Sodium Content. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2017.1363108
- Castanho, A., Guerra, M., Brites, C., Oliveira, J. C., & Cunha, L. M. (2023). Design thinking for food: Remote association as a creative tool in the context of the ideation of new rice-based meals. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 31, 100664. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2023.100664
- Caves, R. E. (2002). *Creative industries: Contracts between art and commerce.*Harvard University Press.
- Cawley, M., Gaffey, S., & Gillmor, D. A. (2002). Localization and global reach in rural tourism: Irish evidence. *Tourist Studies*, 2(1), 63–86. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797602002001097
- Chen, H. (2006). 19 Chives A2 Peter, K.V. BT Handbook of Herbs and Spices. In Woodhead Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845691717.3.337
- Chen, Q., Huang, R., & Zhang, A. (2020). A bite of nostalgia: The influence of nostalgia in consumers' loyalty intentions at traditional restaurants. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 45(0), 604–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.10.016
- Choi, J. H., Foth, M., & Hearn, G. (2014). Not Sharing Sushi: Exploring Social Presence and Connectedness at the Telematic Dinner Party. In *Eat, Cook, Grow* (pp. 65–79). MIT Press. https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/9371.003.0007
- Chossat, V. (2008). Author's Right and Creativity Incentives: The Case of Gastronomy. In *Review of Economic Research on Copyright Issues*.
- Chossat, V., & Gergaud, O. (2003). Expert opinion and gastronomy: The recipe for success. *Journal of Cultural Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023432502059
- Civitello, L. (2011). Cuisine and culture: a history of food and people. In *John Wiley & Sons*. Wiley.
- Clark, M. A., Riley, M., Wilkie, E., & Wood, R. C. (1998). Researching and writing dissertations in hospitality and tourism. In *Tourism and Hospitality Management Series*. International Thomson Business Press.

- Clemenson, S. (2018). Herbs and Spices. In *Swainson's Handbook of Technical* and *Quality Management for the Food Manufacturing Sector* (pp. 433–455). Woodhead Publishing.
- Cohen, W. M., & Levinthal, D. A. (1990). Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *35*, 128–152. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393553
- Convention on Biological Diversity. (2016). National Policy on Biological Diversity 2016 2025 / Dasar Kepelbagaian Biologi Kebangsaan 2016 2025. In *Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (NRE), Malaysia*. Ministry of Natural Resources and Environment (NRE).
- Cooper, J., Giousmpasoglou, C., & Marinakou, E. (2017). Occupational identity and culture: the case of Michelin-starred chefs. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 29(5), 1362–1379. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-02-2016-0071
- Cooper, K., & White, R. E. (2012). *Qualitative research in the post-modern era:*Contexts of qualitative research. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2339-9
- Corbetta, P. (2003). The Qualitative Interview. In Social Research: Theory, Methods and Techniques (p. 264). SAGE.
- Cordeiro, C. M., & van Hal, J. W. (2022). Creative innovation in gastronomy services. *European Review of Service Economics and Management*, 13, 177–188. https://doi.org/10.48611/isbn.978-2-406-13090-1.p.0177
- Cousins, J., O'Gorman, K., & Stierand, M. (2010). Molecular gastronomy: Cuisine innovation or modern day alchemy? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596111011035972
- CRCG. (2017). Full-service Restaurants Revenue (2008-2017).
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. In *Sage Publications*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9299.00177
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research: Meaning and perspective in the research process. *SAGE*. https://doi.org/10.2307/2066441
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1996). Creativity: Invention, Flow and the psychology of discovery and Invention. In *Personnel* (1st Ed.). HarperCollins.
- Csíkszentmihályi, M. (2006). A Systems Perspective on Creativity. In J. Henry (Ed.), *Creative Management and Development* (3rd ed., pp. 3–17). SAGE.

- Cwiertka, K. J. (1999). Encounters and Transitions in Foodways: Japan and the West. General remarks on the perpetual transition in Culinary culture. *Food Culture*, 10–14.
- D'Sylva, A., & Beagan, B. L. (2011). "Food is culture, but it's also power": The role of food in ethnic and gender identity construction among Goan Canadian women. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 20(3), 279–289. https://doi.org/10.1080/09589236.2011.593326
- Dacin, M. T., & Dacin, P. A. (2008). Traditions as Institutionalized Practice: Implications for Deinstitutionalization. In R. Greenwood, C. Oliver, R. Suddaby, & K. Sahlin-Andersson (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Organizational Institutionalism* (p. 327). SAGE.
- Daly, S. R., Mosyjowski, E. A., & Seifert, C. M. (2019). Teaching Creative Process across Disciplines. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, *53*(1), 5–17. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.158
- Das, S. (2016). The Rise of the Creative Class: Revisited. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development.* https://doi.org/10.1080/20421338.2016.1256596
- DeFillippi, R., Grabher, G., & Jones, C. (2007). Introduction to paradoxes of creativity: managerial and organizational challenges in the cultural economy. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 28(5), 511–521. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/job.466
- Dell'Era, C., & Verganti, R. (2010). Collaborative strategies in design-intensive industries: knowledge diversity and innovation. *Long Range Planning*, 43(1), 123–141.
- Denford, J. S. (2013). Building knowledge: Developing a knowledge-based dynamic capabilities typology. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/13673271311315150
- Denzin, N. K. (1978). Triangulation: A case for methodological evaluation and combination. *Sociological Methods*.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2000). *Handbook of qualitative research* (2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2020a). Federal territory of Kuala Lumpur. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cone&menu_id=bjRl ZXVGdnBueDJKY1BPWEFPRIhldz09;
- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2020b). *ICT Use and Access By Individuals and Households Survey Report, Malaysia, 2020*. https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=3 95&bul_id=OWUvVnV5SHI2WFU2VFhnQ2ZjTm1Bdz09&menu_id=am VoWU54UTl0a21NWmdhMjFMMWcyZz09

- Department of Statistics Malaysia. (2020c). Year Book of Statistic Malaysia 2020.https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat &cat=155&bul_id=OVByWjg5YkQ3MWFZRTN5bDJiaEVhZz09&menu _id=L0pheU43NWJwRWVSZklWdzQ4TlhUUT09
- DeSoucey, M. (2016). At The Chef's Table: Culinary Creativity in Elite Restaurants. *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews*, *45*(4), 469–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306116653953kk
- DeWalt, K. M., & DeWalt, B. R. (2011). Doing Participant Observation Becoming An Observer. In *Participant Observation: A guide for fieldworkers* (p. 79). Altamira Press.
- Di Giovine, M. A., & Brulotte, R. L. (2018). Introduction Food and Foodways as Cultural Heritage. In *Edible Identities: Food as Cultural Heritage*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315578781-1
- Dörfler, V., Baracskai, Z., & Velencei, J. (2010). Understanding Creativity. *Transactions on Advanced Research*, 6(2), 18–26. https://www.researchgate.net/deref/http%3A%2F%2Ftar.ipsitransactions.org%2F2010%2FJuly%2FPaper%252004.pdf
- Dornenburg, A., & Page, K. (1996). Culinary Artistry. John Wiley & Sons.
- Dos Santos Marques, I. C., Theiss, L. M., Johnson, C. Y., McLin, E., Ruf, B. A., Vickers, S. M., Fouad, M. N., Scarinci, I. C., & Chu, D. I. (2020). Implementation of virtual focus groups for qualitative data collection in a global pandemic. In *American Journal of Surgery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjsurg.2020.10.009
- Doyle, J. R., & Sims, D. (2002). Enabling Strategic Metaphor in Conversation. In A. S. Huff & M. Jenkins (Eds.), *Mapping Strategic Knowledge* (pp. 63–85). SAGE.
- Dragland, S., Senoo, H., Wake, K., Holte, K., & Blomhoff, R. (2018). Several Culinary and Medicinal Herbs Are Important Sources of Dietary Antioxidants. *The Journal of Nutrition*. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/133.5.1286
- Drazin, R., Glynn, M. A., & Kazanjian, R. K. (1999). Multilevel theorizing about creativity in organizations: A sensemaking perspective. *Academy of Management Review*, 24(2), 286–307. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1999.1893937
- Duram, L. A., & Cawley, M. (2012). Irish chefs and restaurants in the geography of "local" food value chains. *Open Geography Journal*, *5*, 16–25. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874923201205010016
- Dusselier, J. (2009). Understandings of Food As Culture. *Environmental History*, *14*(2), 331–338.

- Easy Expat. (2015). *Economy of Kuala Lumpur*. EasyExpat.Com. https://www.easyexpat.com/en/guides/malaysia/kuala-lumpur/overview/economy.htm
- Edmonds, W. A., Kennedy, T. D., Sreejesh, S., Mohapatra, S., Anusree, M. R., Leavy, P., Hay, C. M., Brodsky, A. E., Buckingham, S. L. ., Scheibler, J. ill E., Mannarini, T., Roelen, K., Camfiel, L., Mertens, D. M., dominguez, silvia; Hollstein, B., & Pearce, L. D. (2014). An Applied Guide to Research Designs: Quantitative, Qualitative, and Mixed Methods. In Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Edmunds, H. (2000). The Focus Group Research Handbook. In *McGraw-Hill Education*. McGraw Hill Professional.
- Eisenhardt, K. M. (1989). Building Theories from Case Study Research.

 **Academy of Management Review, 14(4), 532–550. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/258557
- Eisenhardt, K. M., & Graebner, M. E. (2007). Theory Building From Cases: Opportunities And Challenges. *Academy of Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.5465/amj.2007.24160888
- Elsbach, K. D., & Hargadon, A. B. (2006). Enhancing creativity through "mindless" work: A framework of workday design. *Organization Science*, 17(4), 470–483. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1060.0193
- Embuscado, M. E. (2015a). Herbs and spices as antioxidants for food preservation. In F. Shahidi (Ed.), *Handbook of Antioxidants for Food Preservation*. Woodhead Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-1-78242-089-7.00011-7
- Embuscado, M. E. (2015b). Spices and herbs: Natural sources of antioxidants A mini review. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 18, 811–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.03.005
- Eren, R., & Aydin, A. (2019). Perceptions and Attitudes of Culinary Students
 Towards Food and Beverage Industry in Turkey. *Journal of Culinary Science* and Technology.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2019.1640155
- Erlandson, D. A., Harris, E. L., Skipper, B. L., & Allen, S. D. (1993). Designing a naturalistic inquiry. In *Doing naturalistic inquiry: A guide to methods* (p. 20). SAGE.
- Euromonitor International. (2015). Euromonitor International. In *Euromonitor International*. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.113.1.152
- Euromonitor International. (2020). *Economies and Consumer*. https://www.euromonitor.com/malaysia/country-factfile

- Everett, S. (2008). Beyond the visual gaze?: The pursuit of an embodied experience through food tourism. *Tourist Studies*, *8*(3). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1468797608100594
- Fatimah, S., Syafrini, D., & Zainul, R. (2021). Rendang lokan: history, symbol of cultural identity, and food adaptation of Minangkabau tribe in West Sumatra, Indonesia. *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, 8(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1186/s42779-021-00088-2
- Fauchart, E., & Von Hippel, E. (2008). Norms-based intellectual property systems: The case of french chefs. *Organization Science*, *19*(2), 187–201. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1070.0314
- Feldman, D. H. (1999). The development of creativity. In *Handbook of Creativity*. In R.J. Sternberg (Ed.), Handbook of Creativity (pp. 169–186). Cambridge University Press.
- Feldman, D. H., Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Gardner, H. (1994). Changing the World: A Framework for the Study of Creativity. Greenwood.
- Feldman, M. S., & March, J. G. (1981). Information in Organizations as Signal and Symbol. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 26(2), 171–186. https://doi.org/10.2307/2392467
- Ferguson, P. P. (2002). A Cultural Field in the Making: Gastronomy in 19th-Century France. American Journal of Sociology. https://doi.org/10.1086/210082
- Feuls, M. (2018). Understanding culinary innovation as relational: Insights from Tarde's relational sociology. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 27(2), 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12257
- Fieldhouse, P. (2014). Food and nutrition: customs and culture. Springer.
- Fine, G. A. (1996). Justifying work: Occupational rhetorics as resources in restaurant kitchens. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *41*(1), 90–115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/2393987
- Fine, G. A. (2008). Kitchens: The culture of restaurant work, updated with a new preface. In *Kitchens: The Culture of Restaurant Work, Updated with a New Preface*. University of California Press.
- Fine, G. A. (2015). Review of The cultivation of taste: Chefs and the organization of fine dining. *American Journal of Sociology*. https://doi.org/10.1086/679633
- Finke, R. A., Ward, T. B., & Smith, S. M. (1992). Creative visualizations. In *Creative Cognition: Theory, Research and Applications* (p. 240). MIT Press Ltd.
- Finol, J. E., & Pérez, B. (2016). Semiotic food, semiotic cooking: The ritual of preparation and consumption of hallacas in Venezuela. *Semiotica*, 211,

- 271-291. https://doi.org/10.1515/sem-2016-0088
- Fisher, C. M., & Amabile, T. (2008). Creativity, improvisation and organizations. In T. Rickards, M. Runco, & S. Monger (Eds.), *The Routledge Companion to Creativity* (pp. 13–24). Routledge.
- Florida, R. (2002). The rise of the creative class. In *Basic Books*. Basic Books.
- Flowerdew, R., & Martin, D. (1997). Methods in Human Geography. A guide for students doin a research project. In *Pearson Longman Publishing*. Pearson Longman.
- Folch, C. (2008). Fine dining: Race in prerevolution Cuban cookbooks. *Latin American Research Review*.
- Fontana, A. & Frey, J. H. (2000). The interview: From structured questions to negotiated text. In *Handbook of qualitative research*. Second Edition. (2nd ed., pp. 645–672). SAGE Publications.
- Fontana, A., & Frey, J. (2005). The interview: From Neutral Stance to Political Involvemnet. In *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (3rd Edt., p. 695). SAGE.
- Fraser, S., & Lyon, P. (2018). Chef Perceptions of Modernist Equipment and Techniques in the Kitchen. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 16(1), 88–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2017.1333935
- FRIM. (2018a). FRIM ready to assist in firefly conservation. Official Website, Forest Research Institute Malaysia, Ministry of Water, Land and Natural Resources. https://www.frim.gov.my/frim-ready-to-assist-in-firefly-conservation-2/#
- FRIM. (2018b). FRIM to assist herbal industry in enhancing product quality. Forest Research Institute Malaysia (FRIM), Ministry of Water, Land, and Natural Resources. https://www.frim.gov.my/frim-to-assist-herbal-industry-in-enhancing-product-quality/
- Fuller, D., Hanlan, J., & Wilde, S. (2007). The Identification and Implementation of Key Competitive Factors for Tourism Based Firms. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, *8*(3), 73–90. https://doi.org/10.1300/J149v08n03_05
- Furman, C. A., & Papavasiliou, F. (2018). Scale and affect in the local food movement. *Food, Culture & Society*, 21(2), 180–195. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/15528014.2018.1427926
- Furnari, S. (2014). Interstitial spaces: Microinteraction settings and the genesis of new practices between institutional fields. *Academy of Management Review*, 39(4), 439–462. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2012.0045

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281
- Gallie, D. (1991). Patterns of skill change: Upskilling, deskilling or the polarization of skills? *Work Employment & Society*, *5*(3), 319–351. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017091005003002
- Gatten, J. N. (2016). Culture & Society. In *Woodstock Scholarship: An Interdisciplinary Annotated Bibliography* (p. 11). Open Book Publishers. https://doi.org/10.11647/obp.0105.01
- George, J. M. (2007). Creativity in organizations. *Academy of Management Annals*, 1(1), 439–477. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5465/078559814
- Ghiselli, R. F., La Lopa, J. M., & Bai, B. (2001). Job satisfaction, life satisfaction, and turnover intent: Among food-service managers. *Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 42(2), 28–37. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-8804(01)80036-7
- Giddens, A. (2002). Runaway World: How Globalization is Reshaping Our Lives. In *Rugman Reviews* (1st Edt.). Routledge.
- Gill, M. J., & Burrow, R. (2018). The Function of Fear in Institutional Maintenance: Feeling frightened as an essential ingredient in haute cuisine. *Organization Studies*, 70, 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840617709306
- Gillespie, C. H. (1994). Gastrosophy and Nouvelle Cuisine: Entrepreneurial Fashion and Fiction. *British Food Journal*, 96(10), 19–23. https://doi.org/10.1108/00070709410072472
- Gioia, D. A., & Chittipeddi, K. (1991). Sensemaking and sensegiving in strategic change initiation. *Strategic Management Journal*, 16(6), 433–448. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.4250120604
- Giousmpasoglou, C., Marinakou, E., & Cooper, J. (2018). "Banter, bollockings and beatings": The occupational socialisation process in Michelinstarred kitchen brigades in Great Britain and Ireland. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2017-0030
- Gisslen, W. (2013). Professional Cooking. In *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Gittelman, M., & Kogut, B. (2003). Does good science lead to valuable knowledge? Biotechnology firms and the evolutionary logic of citation patterns. *Management Science*, *49*(4), 366–382.
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). Grounded Theory: The Discovery of Grounded Theory. In Sociology The Journal Of The British Sociological

Association.

- Glaveanu, V. P., Hanchett Hanson, M., Baer, J., Barbot, B., Clapp, E. P., Corazza, G. E., Hennessey, B., Kaufman, J. C., Lebuda, I., Lubart, T., Montuori, A., Ness, I. J., Plucker, J., Reiter-Palmon, R., Sierra, Z., Simonton, D. K., Neves-Pereira, M. S., & Sternberg, R. J. (2020). Advancing Creativity Theory and Research: A Socio-cultural Manifesto. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, *54*(3), 741–745. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.395
- Glăveanu, V. P., & Tanggaard, L. (2014). Creativity, identity, and representation: Towards a socio-cultural theory of creative identity. *New Ideas in Psychology*, 34, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.newideapsych.2014.02.002
- Goldstone, J. A. (1997). Methodological issues in comparative macrosociology. *Comparative Social Research*, *16*, 107–120.
- Gomez, M. L., & Bouty, I. (2009). The Social Dimensions of Idea Work in Haute Cuisine: A Bourdieusian Perspective. In *ESSEC Working Papers* (DR 09010).
- Gomez, M. L., Bouty, I., & Drucker-Godard, C. (2003). Developing knowing in practice: Behind the scenes of haute cuisine. In D. Nicolini, S. Gherardi, & D. Yanow (Eds.), *Knowing in Organizations: A Practice-Based Approach* (1st ed, pp. 100–125). ME Sharpe. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315290973-10
- Grant, C., & Osanloo, A. (2014). Understanding, selecting and integrating a theoretical framework in dissertation research. *Administrative Issues Journal*, 4(2), 12–26. https://doi.org/10.5929/2014.4.2.9
- Grbac, B., & Milohanovic, A. (2008). Contribution of food products in creating cultural identity of tourist destination. WSEAS International Conference on CULTURAL HERITAGE AND TOURISM, 83–88.
- Greenhalgh, P. (1979). Definitons, forms, uses, and qualities of herbs. In *The market or culinary herbs* (p. 15). Tropical Products Institute.
- Grossnickle, E. M. (2016). Disentangling Curiosity: Dimensionality, Definitions, and Distinctions from Interest in Educational Contexts. *Educational Psychology Review*, *28*(1), 23–60. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-014-9294-y
- Guba, E. G. (1990). The alternative paradigm dialog. In *The paradigm dialog*. SAGE Publication Ltd.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many qualitative interviews is enough?: An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability. *Field Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903

- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Chen, M. (2020). A simple method to assess and report thematic saturation in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(5), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0232076
- Guilford, J. P. (1959). Traits of creativity. In *Creativity and its cultivation* (In H. H. A, Vol. 7, Issue 1). Harper and Row.
- Guilford, J. P. (1966). Measurement and Creativity. *Theory Into Practice*, *5*(4), 185–189. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405846609542023
- Haerle, A. (2019). Pushing the Edge of Culinary Creativity. https://www.synergyconsultants.com/pushing-the-edge-of-culinary-creativity/
- Halweil, B. (2004). Eat here: Reclaiming homegrown pleasures in a global supermarket. WW Norton & Company.
- Hamzah, H., Ab Karim, M. S., Othman, M., & Hamzah, A. (2013). Dimensions of Authenticity in Malay Cuisine from Experts' Perspectives. *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*. https://doi.org/10.5901/ajis.2013.v2n3p369
- Hargadon, A. B., & Bechky, B. A. (2006). When collections of creatives become creative collectives. *Organization Science*, *17*(4), 417–526.
- Harrington, R. J. (2005). Defining Gastronomic Identity: The Impact of Environment and Culture on Prevailing Components, Texture and Flavours in Wine and Food. *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, 4(2–3), 129–152. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1300/J385v04n02_10
- Harrington, R. J., & Ottenbacher, M. C. (2013). Managing the culinary innovation process: The case of new product development. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 11(1), 4–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2012.754724
- Hartmann, N. N., & Lussier, B. (2020). Managing the sales force through the unexpected exogenous COVID-19 crisis. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 88, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.05.005
- Hau, Y. S., Kim, B., Lee, H., & Kim, Y. G. (2013). The effects of individual motivations and social capital on employees' tacit and explicit knowledge sharing intentions. *International Journal of Information Management*, 33(2), 356–366. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2012.10.009
- Hayaloglu, A. A., & Farkye, N. Y. (2011). Cheese: Cheese with Added Herbs, Spices and Condiments. *Encyclopedia of Dairy Sciences: Second Edition*, *December*, 783–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374407-4.00507-0

- Hayes, J. (2017). Manifesto for a New Nordic Cuisine. In *Food & Wine*. https://www.foodandwine.com/articles/manifesto-for-a-new-nordic-cuisine
- Hegde, D. M. (2004). Handbook of Herbs and Spices. In *Handbook of Herbs and Spices*. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781855738355.2.256
- Hein, J. R., & Watts, D. (2010). Local food activity in the Republic of Ireland and Great Britain. *Irish Geography*, 43(2), 135–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/00750778.2010.514733
- Hekkert, P. (2006). Design Aesthetics: Principles of pleasure in design. *Psychology Science*, 48(2), 157–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.06.004
- Hekkert, P., Snelders, D., & Van Wieringen, P. C. W. (2003). "Most advanced, yet acceptable": Typicality and novelty as joint predictors of aesthetic preference in industrial design. *British Journal of Psychology*, *94*(1), 111–124. https://doi.org/10.1348/000712603762842147
- Hennessey, B. A., & Amabile, T. M. (2010). Creativity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61(1), 444–454. https://doi.org/https://www.researchgate.net/deref/http%3A%2F%2Fwww.annualreviews.org%2Fdoi%2Fabs%2F10.1146%2Fannurev.psych.0 93008.100416
- Hernández, P. A., Galli, F., Prosperi, P., Šūmane, S., Duckett, D., & Almaas, H. E. (2021). Do small food businesses enable small farms to connect to regional food systems? Evidence from 9 European regions. *Global Food Security*, 29, 100505. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2021.100505
- Herriott, R. E., & Firestone, W. A. (1983). Multisite Qualitative Policy Research: Optimizing Description and Generalizability. *Educational Researcher*. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X012002014
- Hibbert, P., & Huxham, C. (2010). The past in play: Tradition in the structures of collaboration. *Organization Studies*, 31(5), 525–554. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840610372203
- Hirsch, P. M. (1972). Processing Fads and Fashions: An Organization-set Analysis of Cultural Industry System. *American Journal of Sociology*, 77, 639–659.
- Hirsch, P. M. (2000). Cultural Industries Revisited. *Organization Science*, 11(3), 356–361. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.11.3.356.12498
- Hirsch, P. M. (2018). Processing fads and fashions: An organization-set analysis of cultural industry systems. In *The sociology of economic life* (pp. 340–356). Routledge.

- Hirschman, C., & Swee-Hock, S. (2006). The Population of Peninsular Malaysia. *Pacific Affairs*. https://doi.org/10.2307/2759502
- Ho, J. L., Lin, C. F., Lai, M. Y., Tseng, L. Y., & Chiang, T. Y. (2021). Building Theory From Practice: Mapping Executive Chefs' Menu Planning Processes Using a Flowchart. SAGE Open, 11(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211056610
- Hobsbawm, E., & Ranger, T. (2012). The invention of tradition. In E. Hobsbawm & T. Ranger (Eds.), *The Invention of Tradition*. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107295636
- Holloway, I., & Wheeler, S. (2013). *Qualitative Research in Nursing and Healthcare* (3 ed.). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Hollows, J., & Jones, S. (2010). Please Don't Try this at Home Heston Blumenthal, Cookery TV and the Culinary Field. Food, Culture & Society, 13(4), 521–537. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2752/175174410X12777254289349
- Horng, J.-S., Hu, M.-L., & Lin, L. (2011). Food, Creativity of Recipes, Pairings, Menus. In *Encyclopedia of Creativity*. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-375038-9.00100-x
- Horng, J.-S., & Lee, H. Y.-C. (2006). What Does It Take to Be a Creative Culinary Artist? *Journal of Culinary Science & Technology*, *5*(2/3), 5–22. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1300/J385v05n02_02
- Horng, J. S., & Hu, M. L. (2008). The mystery in the kitchen: Culinary creativity. *Creativity Research Journal*, 20(2), 221–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400410802060166
- Horng, J. S., & Hu, M. L. (2009). The creative culinary process: Constructing and extending a four-component model. *Creativity Research Journal*, 29(4), 376–383. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400410903297956
- Horng, J. S., & Lee, Y. C. (2009). What environmental factors influence creative culinary studies? *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 21(1), 100–117. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110910930214
- Horng, J. S., & Lin, L. (2009). The development of a scale for evaluating creative culinary products. *Creativity Research Journal*, 21(1), 54–63. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10400410802633491
- Hospers, G.-J. (2003). Creative cities: Breeding places in the knowledge economy. *Knowledge, Technology & Policy*, 16(3), 143–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12130-003-1037-1
- Hu, M. L. M. (2010). Developing a core competency model of innovative culinary development. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(4), 582–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2009.10.024

- Hussin, N. (2007). Trade and Society in the Straits of Melaka: Dutch Melaka and English Penang. NUS Press.
- Hutton, W. (2005). *Authentic Recipes from Malaysia*. Periplus Editions/Berkeley Books Pte Ltd.
- Hyman, G. (2008). The taste of fame: Chefs, diners, celebrity, class. *Gastronomica*, 8(3), 43–52. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1525/gfc.2008.8.3.43
- Hyman, P., & Hyman, M. (1999). Printing the Kitchen: French Cookbooks, 1480-1800. In J.-L. Flandarin & M. Montanari (Eds.), *Food: A Culinary History from Antiquity to the Present* (pp. 394–402). Columbia University Press.
- Inwood, S. M., Sharp, J. S., Moore, R. H., & Stinner, D. H. (2009). Restaurants, chefs and local foods: Insights drawn from application of a diffusion of innovation framework. *Agriculture and Human Values*, *26*(3), 177–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-008-9165-6
- Ishak, F. A. C., Crang, P., & Karim, M. S. (2017). Material management in themed restaurants: Inspiring the experience economy. *Journal of Tourism, Hospitality & Culinary Arts*, 9(2), 493–504.
- Ismail, N. A., Ab. Karim, M. S., Othman, M., & Abd. Halim, N. (2013). The values of the traditional culinary practices towards the modernization as perceived by the Malay Chefs in Klang Valley. *International Food Research Journal*, 20(5), 2857–2864.
- Jalis, M. H., Che, D., & Markwell, K. (2014). Utilising Local Cuisine to Market Malaysia as a Tourist Destination. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 144, 102–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.278
- Jimenez-Mavillard, A., & Suarez, J. L. (2022). A computational approach for creativity assessment of culinary products: the case of elBulli. Al & SOCIETY, 37(1), 331–353. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-021-01183-3
- Johnson-Laird, P. N. (1988). Freedom and constraint in creativity. In R. J. Sternberg (Ed.), *The nature of creativity: contemporary psychological perspectives* (p. 202). CUP Archive.
- Johnson, R. B. (1997). Examining the validity structure of qualitative research. *Education*, *118*(2), 282.
- Johnston, J., & Baumann, S. (2007). Democracy versus distinction: A study of omnivorousness in gourmet food writing. *American Journal of Sociology*, 113(1), 165–204. https://doi.org/10.1086/518923
- Johnston, J., Rodney, A., & Chong, P. (2014). Making change in the kitchen? A study of celebrity cookbooks, culinary personas, and inequality. *Poetics*, 47, 1–22. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poetic.2014.10.001

- Jonard, N., Cowan, R., & Zimmermann, J. B. (2007). Bilateral collaboration and the emergence of networks. *Management Science*, *53*(7), 105–1067. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.1060.0618
- Jones, C., Maoret, M., Massa, F. G., & Svejenova, S. (2012). Rebels with a Cause: Formation, Contestation, and Expansion of de novo Category. *Organization Science*, 23(6), 1523–1545.
- Julmi, C., & Scherm, E. (2015). The Domain-Specificity of Creativity: Insights from New Phenomenology. *Creativity Research Journal*, 27(2), 151–159. https://doi.org/1https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2015.1030310
- Jung, H. S., & Yoon, H. H. (2018). Understanding workplace bullying: Its effects on response and behavior in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2017-0002
- Kaefer, C. M., & Milner, J. A. (2008). The role of herbs and spices in cancer prevention. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 19(6), 347–361. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2007.11.003
- Kains, M. G. (2018). Culinary herbs: Their Cultivation Harvesting Curing and Uses. In M. G. Kains (Ed.), *Culinary herbs;* Franklin Classics Trade Press.
- Kaplan, S., & Vakili, K. (2015). The Double-edged Sword of Recombination in Breakthrough Innovation. *Strategic Management Journal*, *36*(10), 1435–1457. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2294
- Kashdan, T. B., & Silvia, P. J. (2009). Curiosity and Interest: The Benefits of Thriving on Novelty and Challenge. In S. J. Lopez & C. R. Snyde (Eds).
 In Handbook of Positive Psychology (2nd ed., pp. 367–374). Oxford University Press.
- Kawakami, K. (1998). 99 More Unuseless Japanese Inventions: The Art of Chindogu. W. W. Norton & Company.
- Kennedy, G., Nantel, G., & Shetty, P. (2004). Globalization of food systems in developing countries: impact on food security and nutrition. *FAO Food and Nutrition Paper*.
- Ketokivi, M., & Choi, T. (2014). Renaissance of case research as a scientific method. *Journal of Operations Management*, 32(5), 232–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2014.03.004
- Khoo, G. C. (2019). Defining "Modern Malaysian Cuisine": Fusion or Ingredients? In M. T.King (Ed.), *Culinary Nationalism in Asia* (1st Edt., p. 125). Bloomsbury Publishing Plc, 50 Bedford Square, London, WC1B 3DP, UK.
- Kielhofner, G. (2008). Dimensions of doing. In *A model of human occupation: Theory and application* (4th ed., p. 101). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Kiester, E. (2016). Taking the Heat: Women Chefs and Gender Inequality in the Professional Kitchen. *Contemporary Sociology: A Journal of Reviews*, 45(4), 448–449. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0094306116653953y
- Kim. (2019). *DEWAKAN*. Secret Retreats. https://www.secret-retreats.com/en/discover/malaysia/kuala-lumpur/dewakan
- Kim Sooi, L., & Lean Keng, S. (2013). Herbal Medicines: Malaysian Women's Knowledge and Practice. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/438139
- Kime, T. (2008). Exploring Taste & Flavour: The art of combining hot, sour, salty & sweet. Octopus Books.
- Kitzinger, J. (1994). The methodology of Focus Groups: the importance of interaction between research participants. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 16(1), 103–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.ep11347023
- Kitzinger, J. (1995). Qualitative Research: Introducing focus groups. *BMJ*, 311(7000), 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.311.7000.299
- Klauser, W. (2007). From pot au feu to processed foods: The restaurant as a modernist location. In P. H. Hodgson & R. Toyka (Eds.), *The architect, the cook and good taste* (pp. 110–119). Walter de Gruyter.
- Klein, N. (2008). The Shock Doctrine: The Rise of Disaster Capitalism. In Community Development Journal (1st Edt). Random House of Canada.
- Kontukoski, M., Paakki, M., Thureson, J., Uimonen, H., & Hopia, A. (2016). Imagined salad and steak restaurants: Consumers' colour, music and emotion associations with different dishes. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2016.04.001
- Krueger, R. A. (1994). Planning the focus group. In *Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research*.
- Krueger, R. A. (2002). Designing and Conducting Focus Group Interviews. In *Psychology*.
- Kudrowitz, B., Oxborough, A., Choi, J., & Stover, E. (2014). The Chef as Designer: Classifying the Techniques that Chefs use in Creating Innovative Dishes. *Design Research Society Conference 2014*, 127– 146.
- Kumar, V., MarkoviĆ, T., Emerald, M., & Dey, A. (2015). Herbs: Composition and Dietary Importance. In *Encyclopedia of Food and Health*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384947-2.00376-7
- Kurti, N., & This-Benckhard, H. (1994). Chemistry and physics in the kitchen. In *Scientific American* (pp. 66–71).

- https://doi.org/10.1038/scientificamerican0494-66
- Kwan, L. Y. Y., Leung, A. K. y., & Liou, S. (2018). Culture, Creativity, and Innovation. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 49(2), 165–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022117753306
- Kwon, D. Y. (2015). Why ethnic foods? *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, 2(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2015.08.006
- Kwon, D. Y. (2017). Ethnic foods and globalization. *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, 4(1), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2017.02.008
- Labouvie, E. W. (1982). The concept of change and regression toward the mean. *Psychological Bulletin*, 92(1), 251. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.92.1.251
- Lampel, J., Lant, T., & Shamsie, J. (2000). Balancing Act: Learning from Organizing Practices in Cultural Industries. *Organization Science*. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.11.3.263.12503
- Lampel, J., Shamsie, J., & Lant, T. K. (2006). Toward a deeper understanding of cultural industries. In *The Business of Culture: Strategic Perspectives on Entertainment and Media* (pp. 3–14). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410615565
- Lane, C. (2014). The Cultivation of Taste: Chefs and the Organization of Fine Dining. Oxford University Press.
- Lapan, S. D., & Armfield, S. W. J. (2009). Case Study Research. In S. D. Lapan & M. T. Quartaroli (Eds.), Research Essentials: An Introduction to Designs and Practices (Eds.). Jossey-Bass.
- Larsen, H. P. (2010). Performing tasty heritage: Danish Cuisine and playful nostalgia at restaurant noma. *Ethnologia Europaea*, *40*(2), 90–102. https://doi.org/10.16995/ee.1071
- Latib, F. Y. A., & Abidin, M. R. Z. (2022). Tak Lapuk Dek Hujan, Tak Lekang Dek Panas. Sambal Hitam Pahang: Tradisi, Inovasi, dan Potensi Pengkomersialan. In *Pelestarian Warisan Makanan Tradisional Melayu* (1st ed., pp. 340–353). Jabatan Warisan Negara.
- Lawson, J. (1950). The roman garden. *Greece and Rome*. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0017383500010986
- Lazaroo, S. (2017). Enjoy a culinary snapshot of beautiful Australia at this restaurant. Star2.Com. https://www.star2.com/food/foodnews/2017/05/13/attica-melbourne/
- Lee-Ross, D. (1999). A comparative survey of job characteristics among chefs using large and small-scale hospital catering systems in the UK. *Journal of Management Development*, 18(4), 342–350. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/02621719910265531

- Lee, C., Hallak, R., & Sardeshmukh, S. R. (2019). Creativity and innovation in the restaurant sector: Supply-side processes and barriers to implementation. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, 31, 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2019.03.011
- Lee, K.-S. (2018). Inside the Minds of Malaysian World Pastry Chefs: Portraits of Culinary Creativity [Oklahoma State University, USA]. https://hdl.handle.net/11244/317800
- Lee, K.-S. (2021a). Expressionist view of culinary creativity: A culinary theory exercised with specialty coffee. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 23, 100311. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2021.100311
- Lee, K.-S. (2021b). Pâte à Choux, a Love Story: Expressions of a culinarian. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, *24*, 100348. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2021.100348
- Lee, K.-S., Blum, D., Miao, L., & Tomas, S. R. (2019). The duality of a pastry chef's creative process. *Events and Tourism Review*, 2(1), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.18060/22958
- Lee, K.-S., Blum, D., Miao, L., & Tomas, S. R. (2020). The creative minds of extraordinary pastry chefs: an integrated theory of aesthetic expressions a portraiture study. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 32(9), 3015–3034. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-04-2020-0329
- Lee, K.-S., & Tao, C. W. (Willie). (2021). Secretless pastry chefs on Instagram: the disclosure of culinary secrets on social media. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-08-2020-0895
- Lee, K. S. (2022). Culinary aesthetics: World-traveling with culinary arts. *Annals of Tourism Research*, 97, 103487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2022.103487
- Lee, K. S., & Tao, C. W. W. (2022). Culinary knowledge sharing on social media: Case of the 2019 Malaysian World Pastry Champion Wei Loon Tan. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 52, 52–62. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2022.06.006
- Lee, R. L. M. (2013). Modernity, modernities and modernization: Tradition reappraised. Social Science Information, 52(3), 409–424. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018413482779
- Lee, R. L. M. (2017). Malaysian Identities and Mélange Food Cultures. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 38(2), 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/07256868.2017.1289907
- Leng, G. H. (2017). WHY LE DU LIVES UP TO ITS REPUTATION AS ONE OF BANGKOK'S BEST RESTAURANTS. Robb Report Malaysia.

- https://robbreport.com.my/2017/12/19/review-le-du-top-restaurants-bangkok/
- Leone, L. (2018). The Ratatouille paradox. An inductive study of creativity in haute cuisine. *Technovation*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.11.003
- Leong, Q.-L., & Karim, S. (2015). Global Perspective in Tourism Development: Positioning Malaysia as a Culinary Destination. In *Handbook of Research on Global Hospitality and Tourism Management* (pp. 406–439). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-8606-9.ch021
- Leschziner, V. (2015). At the Chef's Table: Culinary Creativity in Elite Restaurants (1st Edt.). Stanford University Press.
- Leta, S. D., & Chan, I. C. C. (2021). Learn from the past and prepare for the future: A critical assessment of crisis management research in hospitality. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 95, 102915. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2021.102915
- Leung, V. T., & Lin, M. C. (2018). Exogenous factors of the creative process and performance in the culinary profession. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 69, 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHM.2017.10.007
- Lewis, N. (2000). The Climbing Body, Nature and the Experience of Modernity. *Body* & *Society*, *6*(3–4), 58–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034X00006003004
- Li, G., Hou, Y., & Wu, A. (2017). Fourth Industrial Revolution: technological drivers, impacts and coping methods. *Chinese Geographical Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11769-017-0890-x
- Lichtman, M. (2013). *Qualitative Research for the Social Sciences*. SAGE. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781544307756
- Lim, J. (2019a, February 7). When traditional meets modern: ATAS celebrates the provenance of local produce while redefining Malaysian cuisine. *TheSundaily*. https://www.thesundaily.my/style-life/what2eat/whentraditional-meets-modern-FC488016
- Lim, J. (2019b, May 16). Food for thought: Chef Darren Teoh of Dewakan explains his craft and the nuances of Malaysian cuisine and culture. TheSundaily. https://www.thesundaily.my/style-life/what2eat/food-forthought-BA882605
- Lin, P. M. C., & Baum, T. (2016). The Meaning of Applied Creativity in the Culinary Industry. *International Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Administration*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2016.1226153
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalist Inquiry. In *Beverly Hills, CA:* Sage. SAGE.

- Lipartito, K., & Mintz, S. W. (2006). Tasting Food, Tasting Freedom: Excursions into Eating, Culture, and the Past. *Ethnohistory*. https://doi.org/10.2307/483177
- Litman, J. A., Hutchins, T. L., & Russon, R. K. (2005). Epistemic curiosity, feeling-ofknowing, and exploratory behaviour. *Cognition & Emotion*, 19(4), 559–582. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/02699930441000427
- Liu, P. P. (2020). After Words: Negotiating Participant and Portraitist Response in the Study "Aftermath." *Harvard Educational Review*, 90(1). https://doi.org/10.17763/1943-5045-90.1.102
- Liu, Y., Lv, D., Ying, Y., Arndt, F., & Wei, J. (2018). Improvisation for innovation:

 The contingent role of resource and structural factors in explaining innovation capability. *Technovation*, 74–75, 32–42. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2018.02.010
- Loewenstein, G. (1994). The Psychology of Curiosity: A Review and Reinterpretation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(1), 75–98. https://doi.org/10.1037//0033-2909.116.1.75
- Loewy, R. (1950). The MAYA state and consumer acceptance. SAE Technical Papers. https://doi.org/10.4271/500102
- Lorenzen, M. (2019). Creativity in context. In *Creativity, Innovation and the Cultural Economy*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203880012-4a
- Lorenzen, M., Scott, A. J., & Vang, J. (2008). Geography and the cultural economy. In Journal of Economic Geography. https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbn026
- Lounsbury, M., & Glynn, M. A. (2001). Cultural entrepreneurship: Stories, legitimacy, and the acquisition of resources. *Strategic Management Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.188
- Mackinnon, D. W. (2006). The nature and nurture of creative talent. *American Psychologist*, 17(7), 484–495. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0046541
- Macnee, L. C., & McCabe, S. (2011). *Understanding nursing research: Using research evidence-based practice.* (3rd ed.). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Madeira, A., Palrão, T., Mendes, A. S., & Ottenbacher, M. C. (2022). The culinary creative process of Michelin Star chefs. *Tourism Recreation Research*, 47(3), 258–276. https://doi.org/10.1080/02508281.2021.1958170
- Mahima, Rahal, A., Deb, R., Latheef, S. K., Samad, H. A., Tiwari, R., Verma, A. K., Kumar, A., & Dhama, K. (2012). Immunomodulatory and therapeutic potentials of herbal, traditional/indigenous and ethnoveterinary medicines. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjbs.2012.754.774

- Maitlis, S., & Christianson, M. (2014). Sensemaking in Organizations: Taking Stock and Moving Forward. *Academy of Management Annals*, 8(1), 57–125. https://doi.org/ttps://doi.org/10.5465/19416520.2014.873177
- Manniche, J. (2012). Combinatorial Knowledge Dynamics: On the Usefulness of the Differentiated Knowledge Bases Model. *European Planning Studies*, 20(11), 1823–1841. https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2012.723423
- Markusen, A. (1999). Fuzzy concepts, scanty evidence, policy distance: The case for rigour and policy relevance in critical regional studies. *Regional Studies*, 33(9), 869–884. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/00343409950075506
- Marsh, R. M. (2014). Modernization theory, then and now. *Comparative Sociology*. https://doi.org/10.1163/15691330-12341311
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing Qualitative Research* (5th Ed). SAGE Publication Ltd.
- Martin, R., & Moodysson, J. (2011). Innovation in Symbolic Industries: The Geography and Organisation of Knowledge Sourcing.". *European Planning* Studies, 19(7), 1183–1203. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/09654313.2011.573131
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-11.3.1428
- Mathisen, G. E., Einarsen, S., & Mykletun, R. (2011). The Relationship Between Supervisor Personality, Supervisors' Perceived Stress and Workplace Bullying. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *99*(4), 637–651. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-010-0674-z
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). *Qualitative Research Design: An Interactive Approach*. SAGE Publications Inc. Thousand Oaks. United States.
- McBride, A. E., & Flore, R. (2019). The changing role of the chef: A dialogue. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, *17*, 100157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2019.100157
- Meloury, J., & Signal, T. (2014). When the plate is full: Aggression among chefs. International Journal of Hospitality Management, 41, 97–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.05.006
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. In *Wiley* (3rd Edt.). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2014). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. In *John Wiley & Sons* (4th Edt.). Wiley.

- Messeni Petruzzelli, A., & Savino, T. (2014). Search, recombination, and innovation: Lessons from haute cuisine. *Long Range Planning*, *47*(4), 224–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2012.09.001
- Messeni Petruzzelli, A., & Savino, T. (2015). Reinterpreting Tradition to Innovate: The Case of Italian Haute Cuisine. *Industry and Innovation*, 22(8), 677–702. https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2015.1122512
- Michael, M. (2019). *Tantalise your tastebuds with the bold flavours in Beta KL's new menu*. Prestige. https://www.prestigeonline.com/my/wine-dine/tantalise-tastebuds-newest-flavours-beta-kls-new-menu/
- Miele, M., & Murdoch, J. (2002). The practical aesthetics of traditional cuisines: Slow food in Tuscany. *Sociologia Ruralis*, *42*(4), 312–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9523.00219
- Miklós, I. (2019). A Fault in Our Stars: Competitiveness among Michelin-star Restaurants. *Marketing & Menedzsment*, 53(1), 31–41. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.15170/MM.2019.53.01.03
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, M. A., & Saldana, J. (2018). *Qualitative Data Analysis:* A Methods Sourcebook (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Miles, M., & Huberman, M. (1994). Data management and analysis methods. In Handbook of Qualitative Research (2nd Edt., p. 18). SAGE Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, United States.
- Miller, G. (2012). The Smartphone Psychology Manifesto. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7, 221–237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612441215
- Montag, T., Maertz, C. P., & Baer, M. (2012). A Critical Analysis of the Workplace Creativity Criterion Space. *Journal of Management*, *38*(4), 1362–1386. https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206312441835
- Morgan, J. (2007). *Culinary Creation: An Introduction to Foodservice and World Cuisine* (1st ed.). Routledge.
- Morse, J. M. (1994). Designing funded qualitative research. In *Handbook of qualitative research*.
- Munhall, P. L. (1988). Ethical Considerations in Qualitative Research. Western Journal of Nursing Research. https://doi.org/10.1177/019394598801000204
- Murphy, J., & Smith, S. (2009). Chefs and suppliers: An exploratory look at supply chain issues in an upscale restaurant alliance. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 28(2), 212–220. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2008.07.003
- Murray-Gibbons, R., & Gibbons, C. (2007). Occupational stress in the chef profession. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*

Management, 19(1), https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110710724143

- 32-42.
- Myhrvold, N., Young, C., & Bilet, M. (2011a). Volume 1 History and Fundamentals. In *Modernist Cuisine The Art and Science of Cooking* (pp. 56–57). The Cooking Lab.
- Myhrvold, N., Young, C., & Bilet, M. (2011b). Volume 2 Techniques and Equipment. In *Modernist Cuisine The Art and Science of Cooking*. The Cooking Lab.
- National Security Council. (2020). *Movement Control Order: FAQ & Info.* Prime Minister's Office of Malaysia Official Website. https://www.pmo.gov.my/2020/03/movement-control-order-faq-info/
- Negro, G., Hannan, M. T., & Rao, H. (2011). Category reinterpretation and defection: Modernism and tradition in Italian winemaking. *Organization Science*, 22(6), 1369–1683. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1100.0619
- Nelson, B., & Rawlings, D. (2007). Its own reward: A phenomenological study of artistic creativity. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *38*(2), 217–255. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916207X234284
- Neuman, N., & Leer, J. (2018). Nordic Cuisine but National Identities. In http://journals.openedition.org/aof.
- Ng, A. (2020). Experience Kuala Lumpur Through Its Best Restaurants. Cultural Trip. https://theculturetrip.com/asia/malaysia/articles/a-taste-of-malaysia-the-10-best-restaurants-in-kuala-lumpur/
- Ng, C. Y., & Ab. Karim, S. (2016). Historical and contemporary perspectives of the Nyonya food culture in Malaysia. *Journal of Ethnic Foods*, *3*(2), 93–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2016.05.004
- Nicholas, C. (2004). The Orang Asli: First on the Land, Last in the Plan. In R. Mason & A. Omar (Eds.), *The "Bumiputera Policy": Dynamics and Dilemmas* (Vol. 21, Issue 1/2, pp. 315–329). Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia.
- Nieves, J., Quintana, A., & Osorio, J. (2016). Organizational knowledge, dynamic capabilities and innovation in the hotel industry. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 16(2), 158–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/1467358415600208
- Nisula, A. M., & Kianto, A. (2018). Stimulating organisational creativity with theatrical improvisation. *Journal of Business Research*, *85*, 484–493. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.10.027
- Nonaka, I. (1994). A Dynamic Theory of Organizational Knowledge Creation. *Organization Science*, *5*(1), 14–37. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.5.1.14

- Nor, N., Shazali, M., Salehuddin, M., & Zahari, M. (2012). *The Transmission Modes of Malay Traditional Food Knowledge within Generations*. 50(July), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.08.017
- Norlander, T., & Gustafson, R. (1997). Effects of alcohol on picture drawing during the verification phase of the creative process. *Creativity Research Journal*, 10(4), 355–362. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326934crj1004_7
- Norlander, T., & Gustafson, R. (1998). Effects of alcohol on a divergent figural fluency test during the illumination phase of the creative process. Creativity Research Journal, 11(3), 265–274. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326934crj1103_5
- Nurmufida, M., Wangrimen, G. H., Reinalta, R., & Leonardi, K. (2017). Rendang: The treasure of Minangkabau. In *Journal of Ethnic Foods*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2017.10.005
- Ocejo, R. E. (2017). *Masters of Craft: Old Jobs in the New Urban Economy*. Princeton University Press.
- Ohiokpehai, O. (2009). Promoting the Nutritional Goodness of Traditional Food Products. Pakistan Journal of Nutrition. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2003.267.270
- Okumus, F. (2013). Facilitating knowledge management through information technology in hospitality organizations. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology*, 4(1), 64–80. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/17579881311302356
- Onwuegbuzie, A., & Dickinson, W. (2008). Mixed Methods Analysis and Information Visualization: Graphical Display for Effective Communication of Research Results. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(2), 204–225.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Weinbaum, R. K. (2016). Mapping Miles and Huberman's Within-Case and Cross-Case Analysis Methods onto the Literature Review Process. *Journal of Educational Issues*, 2(1), 265–288. https://doi.org/10.5296/jei.v2i1.9217
- Opara, E. I., & Chohan, M. (2014). Culinary herbs and spices: Their bioactive properties, the contribution of polyphenols and the challenges in deducing their true health benefits. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 15(10), 19183–19202. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms151019183
- Opazo, M. P. (2014). Appetite for Innovation: The Mobilization of Change and Creativity at elBulli.
- Orb, A., Eisenhauer, L., & Wynaden, D. (2001). Ethics in qualitative research. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 33(1), 93–96. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1547-5069.2001.00093.x

- Osborn, S. (2014). Labelling relating to natural ingredients and additives. In P. Berryman (Ed.), *Advances in Food and Beverage Labelling: Information and Regulations* (1st Edt., pp. 207–221). Elsevier.
- Otero, J. (2018). High-status food is changing: New gastronomic perspectives. International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science, 11(November), 35–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2017.11.003
- Ottenbacher, M. C., & Harrington, R. J. (2007a). The Culinary Innovation Process: A Study of Michelin-Starred Chefs. *Journal of Culinary Science* & *Technology*, *5*(4), 9–35. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1300/J385v05n04 02
- Ottenbacher, M. C., & Harrington, R. J. (2007b). The innovation development process of Michelin-starred chefs. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 19(6), 444–460. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110710775110
- Ottenbacher, M. C., & Harrington, R. J. (2009). Institutional, Cultural and Contextual Factors: Potential Drivers of the Culinary Innovation Process. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, *9*(3), 235–294. https://doi.org/10.1057/thr.2009.8
- Palmer, C., Cooper, J., & Burns, P. (2010). Culture, identity, and belonging in the "culinary underbelly." *International Journal of Culture, Tourism and Hospitality*Research, 4(4), 311–326. https://doi.org/10.1108/17506181011081497
- Pang, L. (2017). The training and creativity of professional chefs: Stoking the imagination in global gastronomic discourse. *Appetite*, 119, 48–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.08.014
- Patel, M. V., Patel, K. B., Gupta, S., Michalsen, A., Stapelfeldt, E., & Kessler, C. S. (2015). A Complex Multiherbal Regimen Based on Ayurveda Medicine for the Management of Hepatic Cirrhosis Complicated by Ascites: Nonrandomized, Uncontrolled, Single Group, Open-Label Observational Clinical Study. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/613182
- Patton, M. Q. (2015a). Qualitative Evaluation and Research Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice (4th ed.). SAGE Publication.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015b). *Qualitative Research and Evaluation Methods.* (4th ed.). SAGE Publication Ltd.
- Pearson, C. M., & Clair, J. A. (1998). Reframing crisis management. *Academy of Management Review*, 23(1), 59–76. https://doi.org/10.5465/AMR.1998.192960
- Pearson, T. (2015). Why Does It Take So Long for New Ideas to Catch On? AADE in Practice, 3(3), 8–10. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/2325160315580963

- Pegge, S. (2006). The Forme of Cury: A Roll of Ancient English Cookery Compiled, About A.D 1390 (T. Richard, C. Franks, G. Lindahl, & C. Renfrow (eds.); 10th ed.). The Project Gutenberg EBook. https://archive.org/stream/theformeofcury08102gut/7cury10.txt
- Peng, K. L., Lin, M. C., & Baum, T. (2013). The constructing model of culinary creativity: An approach of mixed methods. *Quality and Quantity*, *47*(5), 2687–2707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-012-9680-9
- Perlik, A. (2002). Chefs a la Mode. Restaurants & Institutions, 15, 40-52.
- Perry-Smith, J. E., & Mannucci, P. V. (2017a). From creativity to innovation: The social network drivers of the four phases of the idea journey. *Academy of Management Review*. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0462
- Perry-Smith, J. E., & Mannucci, P. V. (2017b). From creativity to innovation: the social network drivers of the four phases of the idea journey. *Academy of Management Review*, 42(1), 53–79. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2014.0462
- Pesci, S., & Brinkley, C. (2021). Can a Farm-to-Table restaurant bring about change in the food system?: A case study of Chez Panisse. Food, Culture & Society, 1–22. https://doi.org/ttps://doi.org/10.1080/15528014.2021.1948754
- Peshkin, A. (1988). In Search of Subjectivity—One's Own. *Educational Researcher*, 17(7), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X017007017
- Peter, K. V. (2006). Handbook of Herbs and Spices. In Handbook of Herbs and Spices. https://doi.org/10.1533/9781845691717
- Peterson, Y., & Birg, L. D. (1988). Top Hat: The Chef as Creative Occupation. *Free Inquiry in Creative Sociology*, *16*(1), 67–72.
- Petratou, E., Paradisi, N., Diamantis, O., & Stalikas, A. (2021). Nostalgic Scent of Childhood Increases Creativity. *Psychology*, 12(2), 205–222. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2021.122013
- Petruzzelli, A. M., & Albino, V. (2014). When tradition turns into innovation: How firms can create and appropriate value through tradition. In *When Tradition Turns Into Innovation: How Firms can Create and Appropriate Value Through Tradition*. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2013-0-16889-4
- Pina e Cunha, M., Clegg, S., Rego, A., & Neves, P. (2014). Organizational Improvisation: From the Constraint of Strict Tempo to the Power of the Avant-Garde. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, *23*(4), 359–373. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12076
- Pine, B. J., & Gilmore, J. H. (1998). Welcome to the experience economy. In Harvard business review (Vol. 76, Issue 4). Harvard Business School Press.

- Pink, D. H. (2005). A Whole New Mind: Why right-brainers will rule the future. In *The New York Times* (1st Edt.). Penguin.
- Polanyi, M. (1967). The Tacit Dimension. Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Powell, W. W., & Sandholtz, K. W. (2012). Amphibious entrepreneurs and the emergence of organizational forms. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, *6*(2), 94–115. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/sej.1129
- Power, D. (2002). "Cultural industries" in Sweden: an assessment of their place in the Swedish economy. *Economic Geography*, 78(2), 103–127.
- Power, D. (2011). *Priority sector report: Creative and cultural industries* (European C). Publications Offi ce of the European Union. https://doi.org/doi:10.2769/95687
- Pratten, J. D. (2003a). The training and retention of chefs. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 15(4), 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110310475702
- Pratten, J. D. (2003b). What makes a great chef? *British Food Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/00070700310497255
- Presenza, A., Abbate, T., Casali, G. L., & Perano, M. (2017). An innovative approach to the intellectual property in haute cuisine. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 65, 81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.06.009
- Presenza, A., Abbate, T., Sánchez, A. V., & Harrison, T. (2018). Creativity and innovation: the case of haute cuisine. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation Management*, 22(6), 562–577. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijeim.2018.095045
- Presenza, A., & Messeni Petruzzelli, A. (2019a). Haute cuisine and country of origin. *British Food Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/BFJ-06-2019-0427
- Presenza, A., & Messeni Petruzzelli, A. (2019b). Investigating business model innovation in Haute Cuisine. Role and behavior of chef-entrepreneurs. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 82, 101–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.03.027
- Presenza, A., Messeni Petruzzelli, A., & Sheehan, L. (2019). Innovation trough tradition in hospitality. The Italian case of Albergo Diffuso. *Tourism Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.11.020
- Rabiee, F. (2004). Focus-group interview and data analysis. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*. https://doi.org/10.1079/pns2004399
- Ragavan, S. (2015). *Dewakan and modern Malaysian cuisine*. TimeOut. https://www.timeout.com/kuala-lumpur/food-and-drink/dewakan-and-modern-malaysian-cuisine

- Raji, M. N. A., Ab Karim, S., Ishak, F. A. C., & Arshad, M. M. (2017). Past and present practices of the Malay food heritage and culture in Malaysia. In *Journal of Ethnic Foods*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jef.2017.11.001
- Ranilla, L. G., Kwon, Y. I., Apostolidis, E., & Shetty, K. (2010). Phenolic compounds, antioxidant activity and in vitro inhibitory potential against key enzymes relevant for hyperglycemia and hypertension of commonly used medicinal plants, herbs and spices in Latin America. *Bioresource Technology*, 101(12), 4676–4689. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.01.093
- Rastogi, S., Pandey, M. M., & Rawat, A. K. S. (2016). Traditional herbs: a remedy for cardiovascular disorders. *Phytomedicine*, 23(11), 1082–1089. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2015.10.012
- Reardon, T., & Timmer, C. P. (2012). The economics of the food system revolution. *Annual Review of Resource Economics*. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.resource.050708.144147
- Reddy, G., & van Dam, R. M. (2020). Food, culture, and identity in multicultural societies: Insights from Singapore. *Appetite*, 149, 104633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104633
- Rédei, G. P. (2008). CHEF. In Encyclopedia of Genetics, Genomics, Proteomics and Informatics. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-6754-9_2774
- Reed, M. (2016). Herbs and Spices. In *Encyclopedia of Applied Plant Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394807-6.00008-3
- Renyi, L. (2019). What it's like to dine at Dewakan: the first and only Malaysian restaurant on 'Asia's 50 Best' list. South China Morning Post. https://www.scmp.com/magazines/style/travel-food/article/3004427/what-its-dine-dewakan-first-and-only-malaysian
- Reuters. (2021). *Malaysia lifts travel restrictions for fully vaccinated people*. https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/malaysia-lifts-travel-restrictions-fully-vaccinated-people-2021-10-10/
- Reynolds, P. C. (1993). Food and tourism: Towards an understanding of sustainable culture. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 1(1), 48–54. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669589309450700
- Richards, G. (2021). Evolving research perspectives on food and gastronomic experiences in tourism. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 33(3), 1037–1058. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-10-2020-1217
- Rietzschel, E. F., Nijstad, B. A., & Stroebe, W. (2010). The selection of creative ideas after individual idea generation: Choosing between creativity and impact. *British Journal of Psychology*, 101, 47–68. https://doi.org/10.1348/000712609X414204

- Riley, M. (2005). Food and beverage management: A review of change. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 17(1), 88–93. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/09596110510577707
- Robbers, J. E., & Tyler, V. E. (2000). *Herbs of Choices*. The Haworth Herbal Press.
- Roberts, B. (2011). Photographic Portraits: Narrative and Memory. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 12(2).
- Robinson, R. N. S. (2011). *Investigating Creativity as an Alternative Explicator of the Mobility of Chefs.* The University of Queensland, Australia.
- Robinson, R. N. S., & Barron, P. E. (2007). Developing a framework for understanding the impact of deskilling and standardisation on the turnover and attrition of chefs. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 26(4), 913–926. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2006.10.002
- Robinson, R. N. S., & Beesley, L. G. (2010). Linkages between creativity and intention to quit: An occupational study of chefs. *Tourism Management*, 31(6), 765–776. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2009.08.003
- Robinson, R. N. S., Solnet, D. J., & Breakey, N. (2014). A phenomenological approach to hospitality management research: Chefs' occupational commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *43*, 65–75. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2014.08.004
- Rogers, J. L., & Hartman, J. C. (2005). Equipment replacement under continuous and discontinuous technological change. *IMA Journal of Management Mathematics*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/imaman/dph027
- Roque, J., Guastavino, C., Lafraire, J., & Fernandez, P. (2018). Plating influences diner perception of culinary creativity. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 11, 55–62. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2017.11.006
- Rosenkopf, L., & Nerkar, A. (2001). Beyond Local Search: Boundary-spanning, Exploration, and Impact in the Optical Disc Industry. *Strategic Management Journal*, 22, 287–306.
- Rothman, R. A. (1998). Working: Sociological Perspectives (2nd ed.). Prentice Hall.
- Roulston, K. (2010). *Reflective Interviewing: A Guide to Theory and Practice*. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446288009
- Rowley, G., & Purcell, K. (2001). As cooks go, she went: Is labour churn inevitable? *Hospitality Management*, 20(2), 163–185. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0278-4319(00)00050-5

- Roy, H., & Ballantine, P. W. (2020). Preferences and attitudes toward locally produced food sourcing in wholesale distributors: Restaurant and chef perspectives. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, *45*, 544–558. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2020.10.011
- Roy, H., Hall, C. M., & Ballantine, P. (2016). Barriers and constraints in the use of local foods in the hospitality sector. In *Food tourism and regional development: networks, products and trajectories* (C.M. Hall, pp. 255–272). Routledge.
- Rozekhi, N. A., Hussin, S., Siddiqe, A. S. K. A. R., Rashid, P. D. A., & Salmi, N. S. (2016). The Influence of Food Quality on Customer Satisfaction in Fine Dining Restaurant: Case in Penang. *International Academic Research Journal of Business and Technology*.
- Rubenson, D. L. (1991). On creativity, economics, and baseball. *Creativity Research Journal*, 4(2), 205–209. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419109534391
- Rubenson, D. L., & Runco, M. A. (1992). The psychoeconomic approach to creativity. *New Ideas in Psychology*, 10(2), 131–147. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0732-118X(92)90021-Q
- Rubenson, D. L., & Runco, M. A. (1995). The psychoeconomic view of creative work in groups and organizations. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 4(4), 232–241. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8691.1995.tb00228.x
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. (2005). *Qualitative Interviewing: The Art of Hearing Data* (2nd Edt.). SAGE.
- Ruhlman, M. (1999). The Making of a Chef: Mastering Heat at the Culinary Institute of America. Holt Paperbacks Macmillan.
- Runco, M. A. (1988). Creativity research: Originality, utility, and integration. *Creativity Research Journal*, 1(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10400418809534283
- Runco, M. A. (2004). Creativity. Annual Review of Psychology, 55, 657–687.
- Rust, R. T., Lemon, K. N., & Zeithaml, V. A. (2003). Return on Marketing: Using Customer Equity to Focus Marketing Strategy. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(1), 109–127. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkg.68.1.109.24030
- Sadler-Smith, E. (2008). Inside Intuition. Routledge.
- Sadler-Smith, E. (2015). Wallas' Four-Stage Model of the Creative Process: More Than Meets the Eye? *Creativity Research Journal*, 27(4), 342–352. https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2015.1087277
- Sahri, Z., & Harun, H. (2012). Malaysia Indigenous Herbs Knowledge Representation. *Knowledge Management International Conference*

- (KMICe) 2012, 253-259.
- Salkind, N. J. (2010). Encyclopedia of Research Design: Case Study. In Encyclopedia of Research Design. SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.4135/9781412961288.n39
- Samad, M. (2019). Malaysia Steps Up Visit Malaysia 2020 Promotion At ITB Berlin 2019 As Official Country Partner. Ministry of Tourism and Culture (MoTAC). https://www.tourism.gov.my/media/view/malaysia-steps-up-visit-malaysia-2020-promotion-at-itb-berlin-2019-as-official-country-partner
- Samy, J., Sugumaran, M., & W. Lee, K. L. (2004). Herbs of Malaysia. An introduction to the medicinal, culinary, aromatic and cosmetic use of herbs (K. M. Wong (ed.)). Times Editions.
- Sarooghi, H., Libaers, D., & Burkemper, A. (2015). Examining the relationship between creativity and innovation: a meta-analysis of organizational, cultural, and environmental factors. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 30(5), 714–731. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2014.12.003
- Scares, J. A. (1997). A REFORMULATION OF THE CONCEPT OF TRADITION. International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 17(6), 6–21. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1108/eb013310
- Schensul, S. L., Schensul, J. J., & LeCompte, M. D. (1999). Essential Ethnographic Methods: Observations, Interviews, and Questionnaires. In *The Ethnographers Toolkit*. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi500270e
- Schmidt, V. H. (2010). Modernity and diversity: Reflections on the controversy between modernization theory and multiple modernists. *Social Science Information*, 49(4), 511–538. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018410376882
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1947). The Creative Response in Economic History. *The Journal of Economic History*, 7, 149–159. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022050700054279
- Scott, A. J. (2006). Entrepreneurship, innovation and industrial development: Geography and the creative field revisited. *Small Business Economics*, 26(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-004-6493-9
- Seawright, J., & Gerring, J. (2008). Case selection techniques in case study research: A menu of qualitative and quantitative options. *Political Research Quarterly*, 61(2), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1177/1065912907313077
- Seetaloo, A. D., Aumeeruddy, M. Z., Rengasamy Kannan, R. R., & Mahomoodally, M. F. (2019). Potential of traditionally consumed medicinal herbs, spices, and food plants to inhibit key digestive enzymes geared towards diabetes mellitus management A systematic review.

- South African Journal of Botany, 120, 3–24. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2018.05.015
- Seidman, I. (2006). Interviewing as Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Sciences. In *Teachers College Press* (3rd Edt.). Teachers College Press.
- Sharif, M. S. M., Nor, N. M., Rahman, A. E. A., & Abdullah, K. . (2016). The Modernization of Malay Food Ingredients: A qualitative investigation. *Environment-Behaviour Proceedings Journal*, 1(3), 227–233. https://doi.org/10.21834/e-bpj.v1i3.367
- Silverman, D. (2004). Qualitative Research: Theory, Method and Practice. In *Qualitative Research*. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0703993104
- Simone, M., Cautela, C., & Zurlo, F. (2014). Product design strategies in technological shifts: an explorative study of Italian design-driven companies. *Technovation*, 34(11), 702–705. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.technovation.2014.06.002
- Simonton, D. K. (1997). *Genius and Creativity: Selected Papers*. Ablex Publishing Corporation.
- Slavich, B., Cappetta, R., & Salvemini, S. (2014). Creativity and the reproduction of cultural products: The Experience of Italian haute cuisine chefs. *International Journal of Arts Management*, 16(2), 29–41.
- Slavich, B., & Castellucci, F. (2016). Wishing upon a star: how apprentice-master similarity, status and career stage affect critics' evaluations of former apprentices in the haute cuisine industry. *Organization Studies*, *37*(6), 823–843. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840615622063
- Slavich, B., & Svejenova, S. (2016). Managing Creativity: A Critical Examination, Synthesis, and New Frontiers. *European Management Review*, *13*(4), 237–250. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/emre.12078
- Smith, E. A. (2001). The role of tacit and explicit knowledge in the workplace. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *5*(4), 311–321.
- Smith, R. A., Kitterlin-Lynch, M., Pierre, Y., & Moreo, A. (2021). Exploration of workplace bullying in the foodservice industry. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality and Tourism*, 20(2), 299–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2021.1872271
- Sobal, J. (2018). Food system globalization, eating transformations, and nutrition transitions. In R. Grew (Ed.), *Food in Global History* (Revisited, p. 23). Avalon Publishing.
- Sobal, J., Khan, L. K., & Bisogni, C. (1998). A conceptual model of the food and nutrition system. *Social Science and Medicine*, *47*(7), 853–863. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00104-X

- Soh, A. A., Engelica, E., & Samosir, D. L. (2021). Makanan Tradisional Nasi Lemak Melayu sebagai Daya Tarik Wisata Kuliner di Kepulauan Riau. *Altasia Jurnal Pariwisata Indonesia*, *3*(2), 50–56. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.37253/altasia.v3i2.5333
- Sonnino, R., & Marsden, T. (2006). Beyond the divide: Rethinking relationships between alternative and conventional food networks in Europe. *Journal of Economic Geography*, *6*(2), 181–199. https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lbi006
- Spears, M. ., & Gregoire, M. . (2007). "Performance appraisal." In *Foodservice Organizations: A Managerial and Systems Approach* (6th Ed., pp. 530–534). Prentice Hall.
- Spence, C. (2018). Contemporary fusion foods: How are they to be defined, and when do they succeed/fail? *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 13(May), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2018.07.005
- Spence, C., & Piqueras-Fiszman, B. (2013). Technology at the dining table. *Flavour*, 2(16). https://doi.org/10.1186/2044-7248-2-16
- Spence, C., & Youssef, J. (2018). Assessing the long-term impact of the molecular gastronomy movement on haute cuisine. *International Journal of Gastronomy and Food Science*, 14(October), 35–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijgfs.2018.10.001
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The Art of Case Study Research: Perspectives on practice. In *Thousand Oaks CA Sage*. SAGE.
- Stake, R. E. (2006). Multiple case study analysis. The Guilford Press, New York.
- Stake, R. E. (2013). Multiple case study analysis. The Guilford Press.
- Stam, E., De Jong, J. P. J., & Marlet, G. (2008). Creative industries in the Netherlands: Structure, development, innovativeness and effects on urban growth. *Geografiska Annaler, Series B: Human Geography*, 90(2), 119–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0467.2008.00282.x
- Sternberg, R. J., & Lubart, T. I. (1991a). Creating Creative Mind. *The Phi Delta Kappan*, 72, 608–614.
- Sternberg, R. J., & Lubart, T. I. (1991b). On short-selling the investment theory of creativity: A reply to Runco. *Creativity Research Journal*, *4*(2), 200–202. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/10400419109534389
- Stewart, D., Shamdasani, P., & Rook, D. (2012). A Respresentative Focus Group Report. Buying a New Car. In *Focus Groups* (2nd Edt., p. 140). SAGE.
- Stewart, D. W., & Shamdasani, P. N. (1990). Focus groups: Theory and practice. SAGE Publications.

- Stierand, M. (2015). Developing creativity in practice: Explorations with world-renowned chefs. *Management Learning*, *46*(5), 598–617. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350507614560302
- Stierand, M., Boje, D. M., Glăveanu, V., Dörfler, V., Haley, U. C. V., & Feuls, M. (2019). Paradoxes of "creativity": Examining the creative process through an antenarrative lens. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, *53*(2), 165–170. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.224
- Stierand, M., & Dörfler, V. (2012). Reflecting on a phenomenological study of creativity and innovation in haute cuisine. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 24(6), 946–957. https://doi.org/10.1108/09596111211247254
- Stierand, M., Dörfler, V., & Macbryde, J. (2014). Creativity and innovation in haute cuisine: Towards a systemic model. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 23(1), 15–28. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12050
- Stierand, M., Dörfler, V., & MacBryde, J. (2009a). Innovation of Extraordinary Chefs: Development Process or Systemic Phenomenon? *British Academy of Management Annual Conference*, 17. https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/id/eprint/14430
- Stierand, M., Dörfler, V., & MacBryde, J. (2009b). *Innovation of extraordinary chefs*. https://pure-test.strath.ac.uk/portal/en/publications/innovation-of-extraordinary-chefs(4d00d77e-bb16-472d-a23b-89f3c54ee680).html
- Stierand, M., Dörfler, V., & Sadler-Smith, E. (2015). Exploring creativity as experienced by world-leading chefs. *BAM 2015: The 29th Annual Conference of the British Academy of Management Conference*, 27. https://strathprints.strath.ac.uk/id/eprint/53607
- Stierand, M., & Lynch, P. (2008). The Art of Creating Culinary Innovations. *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, 8(4), 337–350. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1057/thr.2008.28
- Stranger, M. (1999). The aesthetics of risk: A study of surfing. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport*, 34, 265–276. https://doi.org/10.1177/101269099034003003
- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Grounded Theory Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. In SAGE Publications, Inc. (2nd Edt.). SAGE. https://doi.org/10.2307/328955
- Suai, N. (2014). Ulam-Ulaman Yang Terdapat Di Malaysia. Blogger.
- Sundqvist, J., & Walter, U. (2017). Deriving Value from Customer Based Meal Experiences—Introducing a Postmodern Perspective on the Value Emergence from the Experience of the Commercial Meal. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 15(2), 171–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2016.1225537

- Suntikul, W. (2019). Gastrodiplomacy in tourism. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 22(9), 1076–1094. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/13683500.2017.1363723
- Svejenova, S., Mazza, C., & Planellas, M. (2007). Cooking up change in haute cuisine: Ferran Adrià as an institutional entrepreneur. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.461
- Svejenova, S., Planellas, M., & Vives, L. (2010). An individual business model in the making: a chef's quest for creative freedom. *Long Range Planning*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2010.02.002
- Svejenova, S., Slavich, B., Gamal, S., & Abdelgawad, E. (2015). Creative Entrepreneurs: The Business Models of Haute Cuisine Chefs. In C. Jones, M. Lorenzen, & J. Sapsed (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Creative Industries* (pp. 184–199). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199603510.013.015
- Switzer, S. (2019). Working with photo installation and metaphor: Re-visioning photovoice research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *18*, 1–14. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919872395
- Tadajewski, M. (2009). The foundations of relationship marketing: reciprocity and trade relations. *Marketing Theory*, 9(1), 9–38. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/1470593108100058
- Taylor, S., & Bogdan, R. (1984). Introduction to Qualitative Research Methods: The Search for Meaning. *Nursing Research*.
- The World's 50 Best. (2019). 2018 The World's 50 Best Restaurants. https://www.theworlds50best.com/The-List-2018/1-10/Mirazur.html
- This, H. (2010). Q&A: Hervé This on flavour and perception. Interview by Michael White. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/464355a
- Tobin, A. (2021). 18 Chefs Promoting Biodiversity For a Healthier Planet. Food Tank. https://foodtank.com/news/2021/07/chefs-promoting-biodiversity-for-a-healthier-planet/
- Tödtling, F., Lehner, P., & Trippl, M. (2006). Innovation in knowledge intensive industries: The nature and geography of knowledge links. *European Planning Studies*, 14(8), 1035–1058. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1080/09654310600852365
- Tongchaiprasit, P., & Ariyabuddhiphongs, V. (2016). Creativity and turnover intention among hotel chefs: The mediating effects of job satisfaction and job stress. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.02.009
- Tourism Malaysia. (2019). Malaysia Tourism Statistics in Brief. *Tourism Malaysia*. https://doi.org/https://www.tourism.gov.my/statistics

- Toussaint-Samat, M. (2009). A History of Food. In *A History of Food* (2nd Edt.). Wiley. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444305135
- Traynor, M., Cain, L., & Moreo, A. (2021). Shooting for the stars: the case of an elite chef. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 25(1), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2021.1924416
- Trobe, H. La. (2001). Farmers' markets: Consuming local rural produce Farmers' markets: Local rural produce. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1470-6431.2001.00171.x
- Tsoukas, H. (2005). Do We Really Understand Tacit Knowledge?". In H. Tsoukas (Ed.), Complex Knowledge: Studies in Organizational Epistemology (pp. 141–162). Oxford University Press.
- Tsoukas, H. (2009). A dialogical approach to the creation of new knowledge in organizations. *Organization Science*, 20(6), 941–957. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1090.0435
- Twigg, J., & Mennell, S. (2007). All Manners of Food: Eating and Taste in England and France from the Middle Ages to the Present. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 37(4), 607–608. https://doi.org/10.2307/590730
- Unsworth, K. (2001). Unpacking creativity. *Academy of Management Review*, 26(2), 289–297. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2001.4378025
- UNWTO. (2017). 2nd UNWTO Report On Gastronomy Tourism: Sustainability And Gastronomy. https://www.unwto.org/archive/global/press-release/2017-05-17/2nd-unwto-report-gastronomy-tourism-sustainability-and-gastronomy
- Uzzi, B., & Spiro, J. (2005). Collaboration and creativity: The small world problem. *American Journal of Sociology*, 111(2), 447–504. https://doi.org/10.1086/432782
- Vallverdú-Queralt, A., Regueiro, J., Martínez-Huélamo, M., Rinaldi Alvarenga, J. F., Leal, L. N., & Lamuela-Raventos, R. M. (2014). A comprehensive study on the phenolic profile of widely used culinary herbs and spices: Rosemary, thyme, oregano, cinnamon, cumin and bay. *Food Chemistry*, 154, 299–307. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.12.106
- van Wyk, B.-E. (2013). Culinary Herbs and Spices of the World. In *Culinary Herbs and Spices of the World*. https://doi.org/10.7208/chicago/9780226091839.001.0001
- Vanhonacker, F., Kühne, B., Gellynck, X., Guerrero, L., Hersleth, M., & Verbeke, W. (2013). Innovations in traditional foods: Impact on perceived traditional character and consumer acceptance. Food Research International, 54(2), 1828–1853. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2013.10.027

- Vargas-Sanchez, A., & López-Guzmán, T. (2020). Creative Process and Culinary Experiences in Michelin-Starred Restaurants. *Journal of Culinary Science and Technology*, 11(4), 97–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/15428052.2020.1808137
- Vargas-Sánchez, A., & Lopez-Guzman, T. (2015). Contemporary management and innovation: Learning from the gastronomy sector. *Journal of Food, Agriculture and Environment*.
- Varshney, L. R., Pinel, F., Varshney, K. R., Bhattacharjya, D., Schörgendorfer, A., & Chee, Y. M. (2019). A big data approach to computational creativity: The curious case of Chef Watson. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 63(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1147/JRD.2019.2893905
- Vaughn, S., Schumm, J. S., & Sinagub, J. (1996). Why Use Focus Group Interviews in Educational and Psychological Research? In Focus Group Interviews in Education and Psychology (p. 12). SAGE.
- Vega, C., & Ubbink, J. (2008a). Molecular gastronomy: a food fad or science supporting innovative cuisine? In Trends in Food Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2008.01.006
- Vega, C., & Ubbink, J. (2008b). Molecular gastronomy: a food fad or science supporting innovative cuisine? *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 19(7), 372–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2008.01.006
- Vega, C., Ubbink, J., & Linden, E. van der. (2012). The Kitchen as Laboratory: Reflections on the Science of Food and cooking. Columbia University Press.
- Victorino, L., Verma, R., Plaschka, G., & Dev, C. (2005). Service innovation and customer choices in the hospitality industry. *Managing Service Quality:*An International Journal, 15(6), 555–576. https://doi.org/10.1108/09604520510634023
- Vogel, D. (2008). Globalization and Environmental Reform: The Ecological Modernization of the Global Economy by Arthur P. J. Mol . *Political Science Quarterly*. https://doi.org/10.2307/798155
- Wahab, A. G. (2017). *Malaysia: Food Processing and Ingredients Annual Report*.

 https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/report/downloadreportbyfilen ame?filename=Food Processing Ingredients_Kuala Lumpur_Malaysia_11-2-2017.pdf
- Wallace, D. B., & Gruber, H. E. (1992). *Creative People at Work: Twelve Cognitive Case Studies*. Oxford University Press.
- Wallas, G. (1926). The Art of Thought (1st Edt.). J. Cape.

- Wan Hassan, W. E., & Mahmood, M. (2010). *Ulam: salad herbs of Malaysia*. MASBE.
- Wang, C., Lee, Y., & Lee, S. Y. (2014). Consumer acceptance of model soup system with varying levels of herbs and salt. *Journal of Food Science*, 79(10), S2098–S2106. https://doi.org/10.1111/1750-3841.12637
- Wang, X. Q., Zou, X. R., & Zhang, Y. C. (2016). From "kidneys Govern Bones" to Chronic Kidney Disease, Diabetes Mellitus, and Metabolic Bone Disorder: A Crosstalk between Traditional Chinese Medicine and Modern Science. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/4370263
- Wasko, M. M., & Faraj, S. (2005). Why Should I Share? Examining Social Capital and Knowledge Contribution in Electronic Networks of Practice. *MIS Quarterly*, 29(1), 35–58.
- Watts, S. (2010). A Revolution in Taste: The Rise of French Cuisine. *Journal of Interdisciplinary History*.
- Weick, K. E. (2015). Managing the Unexpected: Sustained Performance in a Complex World. In *Wiley* (3rd Edt.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Weinberger, E., Wach, D., Stephan, U., & Wegge, J. (2018). Having a creative day: understanding entrepreneurs' daily idea generation through a recovery lens. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 33(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusvent.2017.09.001
- Wellton, L., Jonsson, I. M., & Svingstedt, A. (2019). "Just trained to be a chef, not a leader": A study of head chef practices. *International Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Administration*. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2017.1397584
- WGI. (2020). WGI global report 2020: A gastronomic planet. https://www.worldgastronomy.org/_files/ugd/f16a60_97039e69decc431 0a23bc5055f88c4e1.pdf
- Wilcoxson, A., & Moore, K. (2019). Dignity Strategies in a Neoliberal Workfare Kitchen Training Program. Sociological Inquiry. https://doi.org/10.1111/soin.12312
- Willis, J. (2007). Foundations of Qualitative Research: Interpretive and Critical Approaches. In SAGE. SAGE.
- Wong, L. P. (2008). Focus group discussion: A tool for health and medical research. In *Singapore Medical Journal*.
- Yao, S., Wang, X., Yu, H., & Guchait, P. (2019). Effectiveness of error management training in the hospitality industry: Impact on perceived fairness and service recovery performance. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 79, 78–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.12.009

- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed). SAGE Publication.
- Yoshino, K. (2010). Malaysian Cuisine: A Case of Neglected Culinary Globalization. *In Globalization, Food and Social Identities in the Asia Pacific Region*.
- Yusof, S. F. (2012). *Ulaman di Sekeliling Anda* (1st ed.). Ar-Risalah Product Sdn.Bhd.
- Zakaria, M. H. (2015). Review of policies and issues in the Malaysian herbal industry. *FFTC Agricultural Policy Platform*, 1–5.
- Zampollo, F., & Peacock, M. (2016). Food Design Thinking: A Branch of Design Thinking Specific to Food Design. *Journal of Creative Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.148